
Page 1 of 3 

   

City of Galena, Illinois 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 23, 2019 
 

6:30 P.M. – CITY HALL 101 GREEN STREET  
  

ITEM                                                            DESCRIPTION 
 

19C‐0381. 
 
Call to Order by Presiding Officer 

19C‐0382. Roll Call 

19C‐0383. Establishment of Quorum 
19C‐0384. Pledge of Allegiance 
19C‐0385. Reports of Standing Committees 
19C‐0386. Citizens Comments 

 Not to exceed 15 minutes as an agenda item 

 Not more than 3 minutes per speaker 

  
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

None. 
 

 
LIQUOR COMMISSION 

 

None. 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA CA19‐20 

 

ITEM  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 
 

19C‐0387. 
 
Approval of the Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of September 9, 
2019  

4‐7 

 
19C‐0388. 

 
Acceptance of August 2019 Financial Report 

‐‐ 

 

Page 1 of 106



Page 2 of 3 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

 

ITEM  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 
 

17C‐0322. 
 
Discussion and Possible Action on an Appeal of a Decision by the Historic 
Preservation Commission to Deny an Application by Carle and Robert Egger, 309 
Franklin Street, to Paint their House    

 
8‐50 

 
19C‐0353. 

  
Discussion and Possible Action a Request by Coatsworth Building Residents to 
Modify Parking Zones in the 100 Block of South Main Street 

 
51‐54  

ITEM  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 
 

19C‐0389. 
 
Activity Update from NWIL Economic Development  

 
55‐62 

 
19C‐0390. 

  
First Reading of an Ordinance to Rezone 624 Spring Street from Low Density 
Residential District to Neighborhood Commercial District 

 
63 

 
19C‐0391. 

 
Discussion and Possible Action on Zoning Calendar No. 19A‐04, a Text 
Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance to Allow Adult‐Use Cannabis Land Uses in 
Select Zoning Districts   

 
64‐72 

 
19C‐0392. 

 
First Reading of an Ordinance Amending Article 0, Section §154.015 – Definitions 
and Article 4, Table 154.403.1 – Permitted Land Uses and Section §154.406 – 
Detailed Land Use Descriptions of the Code of Ordinances (Adult‐Use 
Recreational Cannabis Zoning Ordinance) 

 
73‐83 

 
19C‐0393. 

 
Discussion and Possible Action on Renewal of Employee Health, Dental, Life, 
Disability, Vision Insurance Policies, and Health Savings Account Distributions 

 
84‐87 

 
19C‐0394. 

 
Discussion and Possible Action on Options for Downtown Parking Improvements 

 
88‐97 

 
19C‐0395. 

 
Warrants 

98‐106 

19C‐0396.  Alderpersons’ Comments   
19C‐0397.  City Administrator’s Report    
19C‐0398.  Mayor’s Report   
19C‐0399.  Adjournment   

Page 2 of 106



Page 3 of 3 

CALENDAR INFORMATION  

 

BOARD/COMMITTEE  DATE  TIME  PLACE 

Grant Park Committee  Fri. Sept. 20  9:00 A.M.  City Hall, 101 Green Street 

Historic Preservation Comm.  Thurs. Oct. 3  6:30 P.M.  City Hall, 101 Green Street 

Zoning Board of Appeals  Wed. Oct. 9  6:30 P.M.  City Hall, 101 Green Street 

City Council    Mon. Oct. 14  6:30 P.M.  City Hall, 101 Green Street 

 
Please view the full City of Galena Calendar at www.cityofgalena.org  
Posted: Thursday, September 19, 2019 at 4:00 p.m.    Posted By: 

Page 3 of 106



Regular Board Meeting  9 September 2019 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF 9 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

19C-0363 – CALL TO ORDER 
  
Mayor Renner called the regular meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Board Chambers at 101 
Green Street on 9 September 2019.  
 
19C-0364 – ROLL CALL 
 
Upon roll call, the following members were present:  Allendorf, Bernstein, Hahn, Kieffer, McCoy, 
Westemeier, Renner 
 
19C-0365 – ESTABLISHMENT OF QUORUM 
 
Mayor Renner announced a quorum of Board members present to conduct City business.   
 
19C-0366 – PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge was recited.    
 
19C-0367 - REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
 
No reports.   
 
19C-0368 – CITIZENS COMMENTS 
 
None.   
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA CA19-19 

 
19C-0369 – APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF 
AUGUST 26, 2019 
 
19C-0370 – APPROVAL OF A REQUEST BY THE GALENA CENTER FOR THE ARTS TO 
INSTALL SCARECROWS IN PUBLIC SPACES FROM SEPTEMBER 16 THROUGH 
OCTOBER 31 
 
19C-0371 – APPROVAL OF BUDGET AMENDMENT BA20-05 FOR WATER TOWER 
ELIMINATION STUDY ENGINEERING FEES AND OLD CITY CEMETERY IMPROVEMENTS 
 
19C-0372 – ACCEPTANCE OF JULY 2019 FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
19C-0373 – APPROVAL OF A CONTRACT WITH GEOSTAR MECHANICAL FOR BACKFLOW 
PREVENTION DEVICE INSPECTION SERVICES 
 
Motion:    Hahn moved, seconded by Allendorf, to approve Consent Agenda, CA19-19.    
 
Discussion:  None.   
 
Roll Call:  AYES:  Bernstein, Hahn, Kieffer, McCoy, Westemeier, Allendorf, Renner 
  NAYS:  None 
            
  The motion carried.  
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

Page 4 of 106



Regular Board Meeting  9 September 2019 
 

19C-0334 – SECOND READING AND POSSIBLE APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE 
AMENDING THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF GALENA BY THE ADDITION OF 
CHAPTER 35.150 IMPOSING A MUNICIPAL CANNABIS RETAILERS’ OCCUPATION TAX 
 
Motion:    Allendorf moved, seconded by Bernstein, to approve the second reading and the 
Ordinance amending the Municipal Code of the City of Galena by the addition of Chapter 35.150 
Imposing a Municipal Cannabis Retailers’ Occupation Tax, 19C-0357.   
 
Discussion:  None.   
 
Roll Call:  AYES:  Hahn, Kieffer, Westemeier, Allendorf, Bernstein, McCoy 
  NAYS:  Renner 
            
  The motion carried. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
19C-0374 – DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON ZONING CALENDAR NO. 19A-03, AN 
APPLICATION BY ALAN TREBIAN AND LARRY ASCHEBROOK, 624 SPRING STREET, TO 
REZONE FROM LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL TO NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL 
 
Motion:   Hahn moved, seconded by Bernstein, to approve Zoning Calendar No. 19A-03, an 
application by Alan Trebian and Larry Aschebrook, 624 Spring Street, to rezone from Low Density 
Residential to Neighborhood Commercial.   
 
Discussion:  Hahn advised the Zoning Board recommended approval.  It will be used as a 
Farmers Market.  Council agreed it would be a nice application for the area.   
 
Oldenburg advised the indoor use is allowed by right but couldn’t be done without rezoning.  The 
outdoor removable display is only allowed with the rezoning.   
 
Roll Call:  AYES:  Kieffer, McCoy, Westemeier, Allendorf, Bernstein, Hahn, Renner 
  NAYS:  None 
            
  The motion carried. 
 
19C-0375 – PRESENTATION BY IIW ENGINEERING OF FRANKLIN STREET WATER 
TOWER ELIMINATION STUDY 
 
Marc Ruden and Bryson Winsky of IIW Engineering gave a presentation on the Franklin Street 
Water Elimination Study. 
 
19C-0376 – WARRANTS 
 
Motion:  Kieffer moved, seconded by Allendorf, to approve the Warrants as presented, 19C-
0375.     
 
Discussion:  Bernstein questioned why there was a bill to Jo Carroll for street lighting as well as 
one to VanMeter for street lighting.  She was advised the payment to VanMeter was for LED 
bulbs.   
 
Roll Call:  AYES:  McCoy, Westemeier, Allendorf, Bernstein, Kieffer, Renner 
  NAYS:  None 
  ABSTAIN:  Hahn 
            
  The motion carried.  
 

Page 5 of 106



Regular Board Meeting  9 September 2019 
 

19C-0377 – ALDERPERSONS’ COMMENTS 
 
Pool – McCoy noted the pool needs some shade.   
 
Pipe – Hahn advised he brought in a piece of pipe from Green and High Streets to show that 
sooner or later the water system is going bad.  If the City doesn’t do something in the future to 
upgrade and/or repair the mains there is going to be a catastrophic cost.  
 
Dodge Street – Hahn advised Dodge Street up from Highway 20 needs trimming.   
 
Thank you – Westemeier thanked Mayor Renner and the City for the proclamation presented to 
the American Legion on their 100th anniversary.   
 
Streets – Allendorf stated he is glad to see Soldier’s Monument Road and Jail Hill being redone.   
 
Trucks/Trailers – Allendorf noted there seemed to be fewer problems with trucks/trailers on Main 
Street this weekend.  There were still a couple, but it is getting a little better.   
 
19C-0378 – CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Pool – Moran advised staff is aware of the shade at the pool.  Janelle Keefer has been working 
on getting quotes and designs for shade structures.   
 
Thank you – Moran thanked Janelle Keeffer for her hard work managing the pool.  Keefer goes 
above and beyond keeping the facility looking nice, keeping the employees safe and watching out 
for the safety of the patrons.   
 
Thank you – Moran thanked the Public Works Department for their work at the pool.   
 
Water Tower Study – Moran thanked Matt Oldenburg, Andy Lewis and Matt Trotter for all their 
work in helping IIW put together the water tower study.  They provided all of the plans down to the 
pipe sizes.  They put a lot of hours of time and research into it.   
 
Audit – Moran presented the Council with a copy of the audit.  Pat McCarthy will make a 
presentation in the upcoming weeks.   
 
Deer Hunting – Everything has been set for deer hunting to begin October 1st.  All of the hunters 
have been qualified.  The hunters are providing copies of their hunting license and deer tags.  All 
surrounding property owners have been notified.   
 
19C-0379 – MAYOR’S REPORT 
 
Mayor Renner thanked Alderman Westemeier for the centennial of the American Legion held at 
City Hall and thanked the members for their service to our country.  Mayor Renner thanked staff 
for all that they do.   
 
19C-0380 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion:   Bernstein moved, seconded by Hahn to adjourn.   
 
Discussion:   None. 
 
Roll Call:  AYES:  Westemeier, Allendorf, Bernstein, Hahn, Kieffer, McCoy, Renner 
  NAYS:  None 
            
  The motion carried.  
   

Page 6 of 106



Regular Board Meeting  9 September 2019 
 

The meeting adjourned at 7:11 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Mary Beth Hyde 
City Clerk 
 
 

Page 7 of 106



CITY OF GALENA, ILLINOIS 
                                        101 Green Street, Galena, Illinois 61036 

Telephone: 815-777-1050          Facsimile: 815-777-3083          www.cityofgalena.org 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:    Honorable Mayor Renner and City Council 

FROM:   Mark Moran, City Administrator    

DATE:    September 17, 2019 

RE:    Robert Egger Certificate of Appropriateness Appeal 
 
 
The September 23 meeting agenda includes an item of unfinished business to consider an 
appeal by Robert Egger of a decision by the Historic Preservation Commission.  Egger is 
requesting to have his appeal of the denial of exterior house paint colors brought back to the 
city council.  The appeal was postponed indefinitely by the city council in August 2017.   
 
On August 8, 2019, Egger wrote:    
 
Hello, my name is Bob Egger and I am trying to have my case placed on the agenda of the 
nearest possible City Council meeting. 
 
My appeal was placed in abeyance so that I could try to reach a compromise with the city and 
the head of the Historic Preservation Board. During the course of these talks a color was found 
that the Historic Board said was " close to what we're looking for. " 
 
The color was denied and discussions continued. Now I wish to renew my appeal to the City 
Council and the Mayor with the "compromise " color scheme. The new color is "charcoal dust" 
from Dunn‐Edwards and is as close to grey as possible while still having a hint of color.  
I am asking for your support for bringing my appeal out of abeyance and getting this 
matter resolved as soon as possible. I cannot go back to the Historic Board with the same 
(charcoal dust) color that was brought up at my last meeting with them in order to create a new 
appeal.  
 
Since there was no limit placed on the abeyance and it took months to complete the 
compromise attempt I feel it would be fair to take this appeal out of abeyance at this time. 
Please consider this. 
Thank you,  
 
Bob Egger 
 

 

Page 8 of 106



 

2 of 2 

The subject of the appeal dates to 2015 when the City initiated code compliance actions. Here 
is the chronology of activity for this property: 
 

 August 18, 2015: Galena Building Department issued notice to Eggers explaining the City 
requires him to paint his house to comply with our building appearance codes 

 August 18, 2016: Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) denied his proposed paint 
colors 

 September 1, 2016: HPC denied new proposed paint colors 

 September 26, 2016: City Council denied his appeal of paint colors 

 July 6, 2017: HPC denied new proposed paint colors 

 August 14, 2017: City Council postponed new appeal indefinitely and suggested Eggers 
attempt to find colors agreeable to the HPC 

 September 21, 2017: HPC denied another new set of colors 

 March 6, 2019: Galena Building Department issued notice to Eggers explaining the City 
requires him to paint his house to comply with our building appearance codes 

 June 12, 2019: Final notice issued to Eggers by Building Department.  Issuance of tickets 
is next step. 

 
Any council member may bring Egger’s appeal back to the city council agenda for consideration.  
I was recently contacted by one council member who asked to bring the appeal back to the 
agenda.   
 
On the following page are the paint colors that Egger proposed after his appeal before the city 
council was postponed indefinitely.  The colors were denied by the HPC at the September 21, 
2017 meeting.  I am also attaching the packet of information from the original appeal to the city 
council on August 14, 2017. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions.   
 

 
 

Page 9 of 106



Page 10 of 106



CITY OF GALENA, ILLINOIS 
                                        101 Green Street, Galena, Illinois 61036 

Telephone: 815-777-1050          Facsimile: 815-777-3083          www.cityofgalena.org 

 
 

Memorandum 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor Renner, City Council & Mark Moran 
 
FROM:    Jonathan Miller, Building Official     
 
DATE:    August 1, 2017                             
 
RE:     309 Franklin St. Appeal of Historic Preservation Commission Ruling 
 
On July 28, 2017, Carle and Robert Egger were aggrieved by the rulings of the Galena Historic Preservation 
Commission, and have decided to appeal the decision to the City Council.  Their application to paint their home was 
again denied by the HPC.  The Eggers have filed the proper application for appeal, which is attached to this memo.   
Along with the Application for Appeal of the Historic Preservation Commission Ruling, the applicants have provided 
some additional information that they feel will assist in their appeal. 
 
Background 
 
Certificate of Appropriateness July 6, 2017 
 
At the July 6, 2017 meeting of the HPC, Robert and Carle Egger requested to paint their home at 309 Franklin St. 
the new colors of Deep Silver, Thundercloud Grey, Violet Stone, Blue Orchid, and Sweet Daphne.  This request was 
denied.  The following minutes from the July 6, 2017 meeting reflect the decision.   
 
17HPC073:  309 FRANKLIN STREET. 
Discussion and possible action on a request by Carle and Robert Egger applicant and owners, to paint their house 
with the new colors of Deep Silver, Thundercloud Grey, Violet Stone, Blue Orchid, and Sweet Daphne. 
 
Ron Leinen, spoke for Carle and Robert Egger, he passed out information: 

 That the style of this house is a Queen Anne with a bay window. 

 Passed around a piece of the trim with a colored dot on it. Leinen stated that this dot is a lavender color. 

 Shared with the board that the new chosen colors are:  Violet Stone for the main body, blue orchid, deep 
silver, thundercloud gray. 

 
The HPC Board asked: 

 What the body of the color would be and Leinen stated Violet Stone, Blue Orchid would be painted on 
panels around the windows. 

 
Dennerlein stated that he thought that this house would be considered a hybrid because it is a mix of Queen Anne.  
 
 
MOTION:  Albaugh moved seconded by Gehrts to deny as presented. 
 

Page 11 of 106



2 of 2 

Discussion of the motion: None. 
 
Roll call was: 
  Dennerlein  Yes 
  Albaugh  Yes 
  Wienen Yes 
  Gehrts  Yes 
  Johnson  Yes 
  Brown    Yes 
 
The motion carried. 
 
Powers of the City Council 
 
The City Council may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify or amend the order, requirement, decision, 
or determination appealed from, to the extent and in the manner that the City Council may decide to be fitting and 
proper on the premises and to that end the City Council shall also have the powers of the officer from whom the 
appeal was taken. 
 
The Concurring vote of a majority of the City Council shall be necessary to reverse any order, requirement, decision, 
or determination of the Building Official or to decide in favor of the applicant.   
 

Page 12 of 106



Page 13 of 106



Page 14 of 106



Page 15 of 106



Page 16 of 106



Page 17 of 106



We are proposing to paint our house at 309 Franklin Street in a historically appropriate color scheme 

using Benjamin Moore colors as follows: 

Body of the house/clapboards: 2069‐40 violet stone 

Trim: 2124‐40 thundercloud grey 

Front porch: 2124‐30 deep silver 

Porch ceiling: robin’s egg blue (matched to the shell found in our front garden this year) 

Shakes/gable: 529 sweet daphne (green) 

Panels next to bay windows: 2069‐50 blue orchid 

Additionally, these colors will be applied as needed to bring out the details on the house and porch. 

 

The Short Case 

1: The minutes from the 18 August, 2016 meeting of the Galena Historic Preservation Commission 

(GHPC) state “This color is appropriate to a Queen Anne, which are generally painted ladies.” {emphasis 

mine} At this point in the meeting the discussion was about color 2069‐40 Violet Stone. These minutes 

also state that “This house is not a Queen Anne.” (exhibit #1) 

2: The Ball State Study commissioned by the City of Galena and archived by the Ruskin ARC Group 

(Exhibit #2), NPS Form 10900 (Exhibit #3), Darius Bryjka of the Illinois Historic Preservation Commission 

(conversation in October, 2016), the Department of the Interior’s National Register of Historic Places 

(conversation with Barbara Wyatt) and Roger Reed, Historian ‐ National Register and Historic Landmarks 

Programs (Exhibit #4)ALL say ours is a Queen Anne house.  

3: The GHPC has already approved these colors but refuse to issue a certificate of appropriateness. 

 

[As a logic problem:  

(If the premises are true the conclusion MUST be true.) 

p1: Violet is appropriate for a Queen Anne house 

p2: Highly credible sources identify this as a Queen Anne house  

c: Violet Stone is appropriate for this house 

Therefore: A certificate of appropriateness cannot be denied.] 

 

 

 

 

Page 18 of 106



The Full Argument 

“House is not a Queen Anne Painted Lady…. without turrets and some of the more traditional late 

Victorian features, it does not fall into a mold that would necessary apply to a color scheme.” (GHPC 

minutes 1 September, 2016)(Exhibit #5) 

“Painted Lady” is a contemporary term referring to a house in a Victorian Era style, painted in three or 

more colors, nothing more.i   

Architectural styles do not have tightly defined style parameters without all of which they cannot be 

defined as such. Queen Anne style is a collection of details which create a Queen Anne house. These 

details include “Steeply pitched, irregular roof shapes; dominant, front‐facing gable; patterned shingles, 

bay windows, picturesque massing (see Gothic Revival), polychromatic and decorative ornamentation; 

partial or full‐width porches of one story; multiple gables and dormers; occasional towers and turrets, 

rounded or square. Differing wall textures are their “hallmark”.”ii In the book The Building of Galena: An 

Architectural Legacy there are illustrations of sixteen Queen Anne houses, only three have towers or 

turrets. iii 

 

Gaudy and bright colors were not widely popular and are generally not appropriate for such structures 

(GHPC minutes, 1 September, 2016)(Exhibit #5) 

Gaudy  

Adj.  having too many bright colors: (Cambridge English Dictionary) 

 

Dictionary.com also defines gaudy as “ostentatiously ornamented”.  

 

Ostentatious ornamentation is an attribute of Victorian, and especially Queen Anne, architecture. 

 

  
Bright 

Brightness in paint colors is expressed in light reflective value (LRV). The light reflective value of white is 

100. The LRV of our brightest color is 50, half as bright as white.iv The houses on both sides of ours are 

white. 

 
In his book Victorian Exterior Decoration Roger Mossv suggests that when choosing colors to paint a 

Queen Anne house one may choose more colors than when choosing them for a simpler style of 

architecture.  

These colors are by definition, not gaudy. The colors are neither bright nor are there too many of them. 

 

 

Page 19 of 106



“These colors were not used during the years 1875‐1900.” (GHPC minutes 1 September, 2016)(Exhibit 

#5) 

Lavender was a popular color between 1875‐1900 because it was one of Queen Victoria’s most often 

worn colors.vi Synthetic cobalt magnesium phosphate pigment was first created in 1858.vii Cobalt violet 

was lightfast, making it ideal for exterior decorative use. This pigment is still in use today. One of the 

arguments presented to refute our presentation of a contemporaneous paint chart (exhibit #6) showing 

that lavender was available as a house paint at this meeting was that Galena was a frontier town and 

that premixed paint might’ve been available in big cities but wasn’t available on the frontier. There are 

several reasons to question this statement. Firstly, we have positive evidence of lavender’s presence on 

OUR house, having found a deep shade of lavender on it while scraping loose paint.viii Secondly, Galena 

wasn’t a frontier town in the 1880s, when this house was built. It was the endpoint of shipping on the 

Mississippi River and the largest city in Illinois at the time.ix Premixed paint was easily available by train 

or riverboat from anywhere in the country during those years.x  

 

“Closely related hues were used on the architectural elements of trim. Brown, olives, dark blue, ochres, 

grays and other rich warm colors highlighted homes built in the later 19th century, especially those in the 

Queen Anne style. Several shades of color in the same family or of subtly contrasting hues would serve to 

accent various architectural elements.” (GHPC minutes, 1 September, 2016)(Exhibit #5) 

Warm colors were preferred by homeowners in the High Victorian Era.xi Lavender is a warm color.xii 

National Park Service guidelines do not demand that a house be painted in colors which can be 

documented to have been on the structure,xiii however, there IS evidence that deep lavender was 

applied to our home at an early point in its lifespan.xiv (Exhibit 6) There was also a suggestion made that 

there could never have been a lavender or purple house in Galena. This suggestion is insupportable, a 

mala fides argument at its core. There is currently a purple house in Galena, at 1004 Park Ave.xv This is 

not a secret to anyone who drives east on the highway 20 bridge in Galena. (Exhibit #8) 

 

“Also, in accordance to the recommendations of the HPC, the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 

Historic Preservation Projects says that it is not recommended to repaint a house with colors that cannot 

be documented through research and investigation to be appropriate to the building and the 

neighborhood.” 

The last part "and the neighborhood." is a fabrication not found in the text of the National Park Service’s 

standards. The rest comes from...  

  

"STANDARDS FOR RECONSTRUCTION AND GUIDELINES FOR RECONSTRUCTING HISTORIC BUILDINGS"xvi  

...which is a much more stringent set of standards only used for museum level restoration. There is no 

reason to use these standards because our house does not meet the historical significance level 

required for use of these standards.xvii  

 

Page 20 of 106



This GHPC statement is a misapplication of the most rigorous standards required of historically 
significant structures, standards to which even the most historically significant structures in the Galena 
district have not been held. Documentation of the original colors of a structure IS sometimes 
undertaken to restore museum quality or uniquely valuable houses. Such documentation plans normally 
include scientific research used for determination of the contemporaneous coatings, pigments and 
techniques as well as a determination of the exact age and placement of each color. These actions are 
performed by an architectural finishes specialist who retrieves the samples from the structure in 
question, uses specialized treatments to mitigate the aging process of the paint, analyzes the samples in 
a laboratory, and prepares an extremely detailed report, including color notations and samples. All of 
this study and investigation costs many thousands of dollars, often as much or more than the actual 
painting of the structure. These standards have not been required of any other structure within the 
historic district, despite much higher levels of historic significance.  

Arbitrarily demanding this level of investment to gain approval of a color which is (in their own words) 

appropriate to this structure is an abuse of discretion. 

 

 

“There are many other colors to choose from other than these colors.”(GHPC minutes, 1 Sept, 2016)          

(Exhibit #5) 

 

This statement is ridiculous on its face. Of course there are many other colors to choose from, including 

the many colors on the former formulary which were not recommended for exterior use by any 

contemporary paint manufacturer. Of the 66 colors included nearly one third of them were either 

obsolete or not recommended for exterior use.xviii This argument could be easily used to argue against 

the obsolete formulary. There are many other colors to choose from, other than those on the former 

formulary.xix 

 

“This would detract from the neighborhood.”(GHPC minutes, 1 Sept,2016)(Exhibit #5) 

I've been told that this means our colors would detract from the other historic buildings in the 
neighborhood. This is a poor argument if the purpose of the historic board is to encourage historical 
accuracy. Our house is surrounded by inappropriately colored white or pastel houses and brick or stone 
buildings with black or white trim. It would be nearly impossible not to "detract" from those buildings 
with any period appropriate color. The only historically significant building in the neighborhood is the 
seminary at Bench and Franklin which is Galena brick with black trim. Again, any color would "detract" 
from that.  

 

 

Page 21 of 106



In our appeal of the decision of the GHPC to the city council discussion centered on ”…concern for 
setting a precedent if the city were to allow the colors that are not recommended colors approved by 
the HPC.” (letter to us from Jonathan Miller, 1 Nov, 2016) 

This rationale effectively negates any possibility of a genuine appeal. If the city council will only agree to 

approve colors on the former formulary, which do not require approval by the GHPC, how is it possible 

to gain approval of any of the hundreds of colors which may be appropriate but were not on the 

obsoletexx former formulary? If I can demonstrate that the paint on my house was a color that was not 

on the former formulary would I be denied a request to paint it a color that was original to it? This is the 

exact opposite of what the NPS guidelines suggest. The building official has refused to hear even an 

informal suggestion regarding the shade of lavender that was located on the underside of the trim on 

my house, paint which has been hidden from view for many decades, claiming the color is greyxxi and 

that it’s possible that the piece was not really from my house. I am thereby being accused of falsifying 

evidence by the very same people who have presented zero evidence of their own standing beyond, 

“we said so.”  

 

Any person might prefer one color over another but when that person has power over another person 

they must relinquish their preferences and deal with facts alone. We are requesting that you review the 

many pieces of evidence we have presented here and order the Building Official to issue a certificate of 

appropriateness allowing us to paint our Queen Anne Victorian house in these era and style appropriate 

colors. 

 

 

   

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22 of 106



                                                            
i In American architecture, painted ladies are Victorian and Edwardian houses and buildings painted in three or 

more colors that embellish or enhance their architectural details. The term was first used for San Francisco 

Victorian houses by writers Elizabeth Pomada and Michael Larsen in their 1978 book Painted Ladies ‐ San 

Francisco's Resplendent Victorians. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Painted_ladies 

ii https://architecturestyles.org/queen‐anne/ 
iii The Building of Galena: An Architectural Legacy, written and illustrated by Carl H Johnson, Jr pages 141‐148 
iv LRVs accessed from various locations at BenjaminMoore.com: Sweet Daphne 50, Blue Orchid 50, Thundercloud 

Grey 50, Deep Silver 29, Violet Stone 30. 

v Page 36. Moss is a widely recognized expert in the field of exterior decoration and architecture. This book, and his 
others, were recommended to us by Barbara Wyatt of the National Register of Historic Places. This book was also 
used by the GHPC as a reference in the writing of their Preservation Guidebook. 
vi Violet and it's variations were popular among Queen Victoria and her contemporaries soon after the 

invention of mauvine and cobalt magnesium phosphate pigments in the late 1850s. Garfield, S. (2000). 

Mauve: How One Man Invented a Colour That Changed the World. Faber and Faber, London, UK.  

vii http://www.webexhibits.org/pigments/indiv/history/coviolet.html 
viii See photograph exhibit 7 
ix Galena Historic Preservation Guidebook, page 1 
x VED page 15 
xi GHPG page 37 
xii Devoe page 21 
xiii VED pages 7 & 8. 
xiv See photograph, exhibit 8 
xv Photograph of 1004 Park 
xvi https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/four‐treatments/standguide/rehab/rehab_wood.htm  
xvii "When a contemporary depiction is required to understand and interpret a property's historic value (including 
the re‐creation of missing components in a historic district or site); when no other property with the same 
associative value has survived; and when sufficient historical documentation exists to ensure an accurate 
reproduction, Reconstruction may be considered as a treatment. Prior to undertaking work, a documentation plan 
for Reconstruction should be developed." https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/four‐
treatments/standguide/reconstruct/reconstruct_exterior.htm 
xviii Eleven of the former formulary colors are obsolete or discontinued, three additional colors have been replaced 
by the manufacturer with very similar colors & six colors are recommended for interior only use by the same 
manufacturer, Sherwin Williams  
xix There are more than 1500 colors in the Sherwin Williams system as of 4 June, 2017. 
xx The former formulary was assembled in 1987 with color chips being added several years ago. Many of these 
colors are appropriate to earlier types of architecture, but inappropriate to late Victorian color schemes. 
Professional scholarship regarding paint color use has advanced in the thirty years since these colors were 
collected by the amateur historians who wrote the Galena Historic Preservation Guidelines. 
xxi Exhibit 7 Piece removed from front porch of the house on 14 Sept, 2016  
 

 

Page 23 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

 

EXHIBIT #2 

 

 

309 Franklin St Galena, Illinois USA  
VIEW SUMMARY DOWNLOAD SURVEY FORM  

Basics 

Resource Category: 

Building 

Resource Type: 

domestic building 

Location 

Address: 

309 Franklin St 

City: 

Galena 

County: 

Jo Daviess 

State/Province/Region: 

Illinois 

Zip/Postal Code: 

61036 

Country: 

USA 

Other Address or Location Information: 

Parcel/Tax number or land unit: 

22-100-319-00 

Visible from Public Road? 

Page 24 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                
Yes 

Historical Information 

Historic name: 

House 

Current name: 

House 

Construction Date (range/estimated): 

1880-1889 

Construction Date Certainty: 

approximate 

Known Construction Date: 

1880 

Historical Summary: 

Extant Status: 

Not Demolished 

Architectural Style and Form 

Plan/Footprint Shape: 

L 

Building Form or Plan Type (core plan): 

Style, Primary: 

Queen Anne 

Style, Secondary: 

Notes on architectural style, form, distinguishing features: 

Bay window 

Architectural Elements and Features 

Number of Stories: 

2.5 

Bays: 

Page 25 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

Structural System: 

Foundation: 

Not Visible 

Roof Configuration: 

Cross gable 

Roof Material 

asphalt shingles 

Exterior Wall Material (primary): 

wood clapboard/siding 

Window remarks: 

Windows are original or historic wood 1/1 double-or- single hung, fixed, with molding, decorative 
colored glass. 

Porch description, characteristics, details: 

The porch is original or historic, L-Inset; Wood materials; Half-Hipped roof; Turned Spindles. 

Primary entryway: 

Doors are original or historic wood glazed with molding. 

Function and Use 

Historic Function: 

Domestic: Single Dwelling 

Present Function: 

Domestic: Single Dwelling 

Function remarks: 

Listed, Designated, or Protected Status 

Listed at the national level? 

Individually Listed: No 
Contributes to a District: Yes 
Landmark: No  

 

 

Page 26 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

Date, name, remarks: 

Galena Historic District 

Designated at State/Province level? 

Individually Listed: No 
Contributes to a District: No 
Landmark: No  

Date, name, remarks: 

Designated Locally? 

Individually Listed: No 
Contributes to a District: No 
Landmark: No  

Date, name, remarks: 

Protected by ordinance or regulation?: 

Area(s) of Significance 

Architecture  
Character of modifications: 

Slightly Altered 

General Condition: 

Good 

Additions?: 

Nature of additions: 

Endangered / Threatened 

General Remarks: 

Molding over/around doors or windows, cornice returns, decorative shingles. 

Custom / Extra Information 

Contributes to NHL District with period of significance 1820-1900: 

Yes 

Contributes to NHL District with period of significance 1820-1960: 

Yes 

 

Page 27 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

Imported image from Ball State 

Survey  Imported image from 
Ball State Survey 

Located in 

 Historic Resources of Galena, Illinois 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

EXHIBIT #3 

Page 29 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

 

Page 30 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

Page 31 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

Page 32 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

 
 

Page 33 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

EXHIBIT #4 
 
 
Dear Mr. Egger, 
 
Thank you for your inquiry about the architectural style of your house.  In my opinion, the house 
is a very good example of a small vernacular interpretation of the Queen Anne style.  While it is 
true that most architectural histories will uses examples of homes with large porches, distinctive 
corner towers, and other elaborate features such as oriel windows, smaller houses,such as yours, 
can also exhibit characteristics of the style. 
 
The two-story bay window with a very prominent gable roof substitutes here as a kind of poor-
man's picturesque tower.  It is ornamented with alternating clapboards and fish-scale shingles, 
and with equally characteristic window trim.  The fixed attic window and the window next to the 
entrance, are (and was so-called in the 19th century),"Queen Anne sash".  The small porch is 
engaged to the bay window and has typical Queen Anne turned posts, filigree, and spindle work 
(derived from medieval English furniture).  That all this is built on to the front of an otherwise plain 
building does not prevent it from being a good example of style normally associated with grander 
dwellings. 
 
I hope you find this helpful. 
 
 
 
 
Roger G. Reed, Historian 
National Register and National Historic Landmarks Programs 
1201 Eye Street NW 
Washington, D.C. 20008 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT #6 

COLOR PALETTE  
The Victorian palette is the most varied of the historic palettes, with the vibrancy and excitement 
of the paint colors matching the intricacy of details. In the mid-1800s, when Italianate and 
Second Empire Victorian houses started dotting America, paint colors were muted and earthy, 
owing to their natural pigments. Reds and browns, for instance, were derived from ferric oxides. 
By the 1880s, when the exuberant Queen Anne style became popular, the advent of synthetic 
pigments allowed for vivid blues, greens, purples and yellows. Also common were multi-hue 
schemes that celebrated the style's diverse architectural details, such as turned porch spindles and 
fish-scale shingles under the eaves.  

 

DEA158 Northern Territory  DEA150 Scarlet Past  

 

DE6007 Old-Fashioned Purple  

 

DE5095 Victorian Rouge  DE5093 Rose Reminder  

 

DE5961 Tinted Iris  

 

DE5773 Stone Silver  DE5654 Fresh Thyme  

 

DE5486 Tropical Moss  

 

DE5454 Sullen Gold  DE5572 Sage Leaves  

 

DE6271 Elemental Green  

 

DE5271 Ginger Spice  DE5397 Radiant Sunrise  

 

DE5450 Sugar Cookie  

 

DE5452 Gold Gleam  DE5253 Macaroon Cream  

 

DE6029 Mother of Pearl  

Page 35 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                

 

DE5745 Barrier Reef  DE5795 Spirit Mountain  

 

DE5867 Blue Chip  

 

DE5907 Twilight Twinkle  DEA136 Beautiful Blue  

 

DEA135 Deep Ocean  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXIBIT #7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37 of 106



                                                                                                                                                                                                
 
 
 
 

EXIBIT #8

 

Page 38 of 106



Page 39 of 106



Page 40 of 106



Page 41 of 106



Page 42 of 106



Page 43 of 106



Page 44 of 106



Page 45 of 106



Page 46 of 106



Page 47 of 106



Page 48 of 106



Page 49 of 106



Page 50 of 106



CITY OF GALENA, ILLINOIS 
                                        101 Green Street, Galena, Illinois 61036 

Telephone: 815-777-1050          Facsimile: 815-777-3083          www.cityofgalena.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:    Honorable Mayor Renner and City Council 

FROM:   Mark Moran, City Administrator    

DATE:    August 20, 2019 

RE:    Coatsworth Parking Proposal 
 

Please see the attached request by residents of the Coatsworth Apartments for parking and 
loading accommodations on Main Street.  The proposal is to convert the current limited time 
loading zone on the south east end of the 100 block of South Main Street to a 24 hour a day, 
seven days a week loading zone.  Additionally, the residents propose to convert the parking 
space in front of the loading zone to a space for persons with disabilities (handicap space). 
 

 
 
Chief Huntington has reviewed the proposal and supports the designation of the handicap 
space since there are no handicap spaces in the 100 block of South Main.  Converting the 
loading zone to full‐time would be unprecedented on Main Street and could result in 
underutilization on weekends.  Having said that, the Coatsworth residents make a compelling 
case for needing access to the spaces. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions.  Thank you.  

 

Page 51 of 106



Proposal for Main Street Parking Changes 

To:       Mark Moran, City Administrator of Galena, mmoran@cityofgalena.org, 

             815‐777‐1050     

From:  Jae Hezlep, Coatsworth Apartments Resident, 126 South Main St., Galena 

Re:       Requested change in Parking Regulations for Two Spaces in Front of Coatsworth Apartments 

and next space north being changed to an ADA parking space. 

Present Situation: 

Two spaces on the east side of Main Street just north of Washington Street are No Parking, Loading 

Zones, Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. until 5 p.m. Monday through Thursday after 5 p.m. 

these spaces return to legal parking places until 8 a.m. the next morning.  After 5 p.m. on Friday 

these spaces revert to legal parking places throughout the weekend until Monday morning at 8 a.m.  

Third space north of No Parking Loading Zone spaces is available for any car to park any time. 

Problematic To Coatsworth Residents Because: 

Coatsworth is an independent senior living HUD building which has 18 apartments of which 17 are 

currently filled, with another possible tenant in the application process. Presently eight residents 

have cars.  And I would be remiss if I did not comment on how grateful residents are to the City 

Council to be able to have designated spaces in the City Parking Lot.  When I was still driving and 

had a car, it was an incredible gift and convenience. That said, after my three back operations and 

recent hip fracture I no longer drive nor own a car and will use a walker for the rest of my life.  

Parking in front of the Coatsworth Building has always been an inconvenience for residents after 5 

p.m. and on the weekends as these two spaces practically always have cars parked in the two 

spaces.  This requires family and friends who are picking up residents to either wait at the corner 

and straddle Washington Street or stop Main Street traffic while residents manipulate crossing 

between the parked vehicles, a nearly impossible task with a walker and a clearly unsafe 

proposition for anyone.  This becomes particularly difficult and dangerous during snowy and icy 

weather. 

Inside in the front of our building there is a seating area where there is a window with visibility on 

Main Street which allows one who is waiting for a ride to see the vehicle coming and begin to walk 

outside to meet the vehicle. (No such seating or visibility is available at the back entrance.) 

Lest you think I am the only Coatsworth resident who thinks the present parking situation is an 

issue, here are comments from some of my neighbors: 

Kathy Carlson:  I am totally blind in one eye and legally blind in the other.  My mother lives in the 

area and frequently picks me up and drops me off in the evening and on the weekends.  She has to 

Page 52 of 106



stop down at the corner and partially block Washington Street where she can’t leave her car to 

come help me.  After dark it’s especially hard for me to navigate by myself.  I frequently call upon 

my neighbor, Kathleen Maloney, to assist me. Also it should be mentioned that since the Under The 

Lamplight Dinner Theater owner purchased the building across the street, related vehicles including 

Amelia’s car and trailer are frequent long‐term ‐‐ even all day ‐‐ parkers in the spaces when the 

loading zone restrictions are in place and even when legal spaces are open in front of the Dinner 

Theatre’s front door. 

Jan Kutsch:  I have breathing problems and extreme temperatures make it difficult to carry 

groceries from our parking lot to the building.  Sometimes I get groceries on Sunday and need an 

area to unload with limited walking.  My family picks me up for Mass on Saturday afternoon and 

there is never anywhere for them to park in front of our building.  When parked tourists congregate 

in front of our building as they load their kids, pets, purchases, grandma and grandpa, it is difficult 

to get out our front door. The city must realize that we live in this building 7 days a week, not 5 days 

a week. 

Barb Bartsch:  It’s frustrating when there is no loading zone.  My son and his family frequently pick 

me up on the weekends and often I have to walk down to the corner.  When buying groceries using 

the back door presents some problems, it’s harder to get a cart up the sidewalk and the back door is 

very heavy.   

Gloria Galvez:  I do not drive and have family and friends pick me up and drop me off after current 

evening hours and over the weekends.  It would be great if they could get you and let you out in 

front of the building.   

Carol Northcraft:  Big vehicles parked in front and during the evening and weekend hours are a 

problem. 

Proposed Parking Solution: 

Change the two spaces on the east side of Main Street just north of Washington 

Street in front of the Coatsworth Building to No Parking Loading Zones 24‐Hours a day, seven days a 

week.  

Change the next space north to an ADA parking space.  Currently, unlike on other Main Street 

blocks, there is no Handicap parking space in this block of Main Street.  Actually LaVon Buss, current 

tenant and former long‐time maintenance manager of Coatsworth, said that this parking space used 

to be an ADA parking space, but some time ago the designation was just removed one day. 

Next Steps: 

Please let me know what I and others need to do for consideration of this proposal. 

Page 53 of 106



Note: Carey Jorgensen is Director of Property Management at Home Base Property Management, 

LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Economic Growth Corporation which serves as the property 

management for properties owned by GROWTH including the Coatsworth Building. She has 

supported this proposed change in a phone conversation with me and agreed to work on 

developing a letter of support to share with the City. 

Thank you for your consideration.  I will wait to hear. 

Sincerely, 

Jae Hezlep, #401, Coatsworth Building.  815‐541‐7435,  jlhezlep@gmail.com 

CC: Carey Jorgensen, cjorgensen@growthcorp.org, 563‐508‐4933 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54 of 106



 

Northwest Illinois Economic Development Director’s Update 

September 2019 

 Enterprise	Zone	Awarded:	The State of Illinois has announced the enterprise zone awards 
to start in 2020, including the Northwest Illinois Enterprise Zone covering Jo Daviess and 
Stephenson Counties, including properties in Galena, Stockton, and East Dubuque. While the 
application was submitted earlier this year, NWILED is very grateful for all the time and 
effort put into this valuable tool for economic development.	 

 Honeywell	Plant	Closing:. In addition, NWILED executive director spoke with a Honeywell 
Representative this past Thursday. The plant is scheduled to close by the end of 2019. 
NWILED has posted the real estate listing on our website and on Intersect Illinois, the state 
database, and the official property listing is included in this packet.. All interested parties 
should make efforts to help facilitate the sale of the property. 

 Talent	Pipeline	Management:	NWILED is continuing its workforce development efforts. A 
pilot program from the United States Chamber of Commerce Foundation, Talent Pipeline 
Management (TPM) engages employers by industry to examine and prepare for future 
workforce needs. We held our 3rd quarter meeting this past week, and we currently have 12 
collaborators across 3 industries. Businesses with workforce issues are encouraged to 
engage. For more information, please reach out to info@nwiled.org.  

 Bi‐State	Port	Study:	A spinoff of a the Bi-State Freight Transportation study completed last 
year, NWILED is currently representing the Jo Daviess county region on a study that seeks 
to understand the impact of a potential port expansion in Dubuque, Iowa or East Dubuque, 
Illinois. Led by Alan Meyers of WSP Consulting, the study involves a 
variety of regional stakeholders across the area. For more information 
or to get involved, please reach out to Emily at elegel@nwiled.org.  

 Small	Business	Administration	Visit:	NWILED was pleased to 
host district Small Business Administration President Robert “Bo” 
Steiner on a visit to the tri-county area on Tuesday, August 27. 
Steiner visited three area communities, ending his day with a tour 
of downtown Galena, hosted by Chamber director Kerry Shelke. The 
SBA provides a variety of services to small businesses from gap 
funding to business planning resources.  

 New	Executive	Director:	New executive director Emily Legel 
started her position on July 8. A Thomson, IL native, Emily has a 
master’s degree in urban planning with a focus on economic 
development. She has previously worked for Iowa City Area Development Group and the 
Clinton Regional Development Corporation, and she looks forward to working with the 
Northwest Illinois community.	

Page 55 of 106



 New	Partnership	with	CEDA:	NWILED has formed a new 
partnership with Community and Economic Development 
Associates. This partnership includes a new executive director, 
professional support, and access to elected officials, site selectors, and professional 
networks. With most of their organization based in Minnesota, this is the first contract in 
Illinois. To learn more about their offerings and how they could support your community, 
please visit https://www.cedausa.com/ .  	

 Build	It	•	Grow	It: The business education program is held at the Stockton Township Library 
on the 2nd Thursday of the month, through October,, 8:30 - 10:00 a.m. Brian McIntyre will 
have five hours of private consulting available each month from 10:30 – 3:15 PM at the Illinois 
Bank and Trust in Stockton. Businesses can register on the NWILED website. 

 Build	it	•	Grow	It:	Entrepreneurial	Mastermind	Forum will be held on the 4th Thursday of 
the month through October, 8:00 – 9:00 a.m.  at Prairie Ridge in Galena. All businesses in the 
region are welcome. The charge is only $15 per person. For more information, email 
info@nwiled.org. 

 2020	Build	It	•	Grow	It: Locations have been selected! Northwest Illinois Economic 
Development is pleased to announce not one but TWO locations for Build It Grow It 2020. 
While the exact locations are yet to be announced; we will be holding one session in Galena 
on the fourth Thursday of the month and one session in Fulton on the second Tuesday of the 
month. Businesses from around the area are welcome. Stay tuned with NWILED for more 
updates. 

 Hour	of	Code:	NWILED will build on the success of its hour of code program. This year the 
program will be offered to area primary school students to teach coding basics. NWILED 
staff is in the process of reaching out to local schools to recruit students from Galena, River 
Ridge, Stockton and West Carroll, with plans to hold classes at local libraries. Classes will 
start in October. 

 	New	Board	Members: NWILED is pleased to announce the appointment of three new 
board members: Patrick Winders of East Dubuque, Warren Dorn of Galena, and Joseph 
Mattingley from Scales Mound. In addition to serving on our regular board, Winders was 
elected NWILED board treasurer at the August meeting. 

 Outgoing	Board	Members:	NWILED thanks outgoing board members Libby Miller and 
Mike Dittmar for their service. Currently mayor of Elizabeth, Dittmar had served on the 
NWILED board since its founding in 2009. Miller had also been with NWILED several years 
and had previously served as the board treasurer.	

 Upcoming:	NWILED	Quarterly	Report- Keep an eye out for the NWILED Quarterly Report. 
Part of a new initiative to track our impact in the community, the first will be sent out 
October 1st, 2019. For more information on this and other NWILED programs, please 
contact Emily at elegel@nwiled.org  

 Sign	Up:	Like our Facebook page and follow us on Twitter and Instagram for updates on 
economic development activities in our region. We often use #GrowNWIL and 
#ruraldevelopment in our tweets for easy searches and sharing of content. 

 NWILED	Board	Meeting:	The next NWILED board meeting will be held October 9th from 
4:30 – 6 PM at the NWILED office in Hanover. 

Page 56 of 106



BUILDING FEATURES

 + 72,000 SF total building size

 + Situated on 20.01 acres providing   

additional land for expansion 

 + 6,449 SF of office space

 + 20’ clear height

www.cbre.com/karen.walsh

FOR SALE

MANUFACTURING/WAREHOUSE
11309 WEST CHETLAIN LANE
GALENA, ILLINOIS

CONTACT US

KAREN WALSH, CCIM
FIRST VICE PRESIDENT
+1 815 218 3438
karen.walsh@cbre.com

JENNIFER BERRY  
SALES ASSOCIATE
+1 815 871 6156
jennifer.berry@cbre.com

 + One (1) drive-in door

 + Two (2) interior loading docks

 + Industrial zoning

 + 2500 amps including 600 amp bus duct, 

277/480V 3 phase, 4 wire

 + Located on US Hwy 20 / IL. Route 84

 + Sales Price: $1,200,000

Page 57 of 106



PHOTOS

11309
W. CHETLAIN LN.

GALENA, ILLINOIS

FOR SALE

MANUFACTURING/WAREHOUSE

Page 58 of 106



FLOOR PLAN

11309
W. CHETLAIN LN.

GALENA, ILLINOIS

FOR SALE

MANUFACTURING/WAREHOUSE

© 2019 CBRE, Inc. The information contained in this document has been obtained from sources believed reliable. While CBRE, Inc. does 
not doubt its accuracy, CBRE, Inc. has not verifi ed it and makes no guarantee, warranty or representation about it. It is your responsibility 
to independently confi rm its accuracy and completeness. Any projections, opinions, assumptions or estimates used are for example only 
and do not represent the current or future performance of the property. The value of this transaction to you depends on tax and other 
factors which should be evaluated by your tax, fi nancial and legal advisors. You and your advisors should conduct a careful, independent 
investigation of the property to determine to your satisfaction the suitability of the property for your needs. Photos herein are the property 
of their respective owners and use of these images without the express written consent of the owner is prohibited. CBRE and the CBRE 
logo are service marks of CBRE, Inc. and/or its affi liated or related companies in the United States and other countries. All other marks 
displayed on this document are the property of their respective owners.

Page 59 of 106



AERIAL

11309
W. CHETLAIN LN.

GALENA, ILLINOIS

FOR SALE

MANUFACTURING FACILITY

© 2019 CBRE, Inc. The information contained in this document has been obtained from sources believed reliable. While CBRE, Inc. does 
not doubt its accuracy, CBRE, Inc. has not verifi ed it and makes no guarantee, warranty or representation about it. It is your responsibility 
to independently confi rm its accuracy and completeness. Any projections, opinions, assumptions or estimates used are for example only 
and do not represent the current or future performance of the property. The value of this transaction to you depends on tax and other 
factors which should be evaluated by your tax, fi nancial and legal advisors. You and your advisors should conduct a careful, independent 
investigation of the property to determine to your satisfaction the suitability of the property for your needs. Photos herein are the property 
of their respective owners and use of these images without the express written consent of the owner is prohibited. CBRE and the CBRE 
logo are service marks of CBRE, Inc. and/or its affi liated or related companies in the United States and other countries. All other marks 
displayed on this document are the property of their respective owners.

Page 60 of 106



www.cbre.com/karen.walsh

11309
W. CHETLAIN LN.

GALENA, ILLINOIS

FOR SALE

MANUFACTURING/WAREHOUSE

SURVEY

Page 61 of 106



www.cbre.com/karen.walsh

11309
W. CHETLAIN LN.

GALENA, ILLINOIS

FOR SALE

MANUFACTURING/WAREHOUSE

LOCATION MAP

Page 62 of 106



 Ordinance #O-19-___   
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GALENA 

______________________________________________________________________   
 

 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Galena, Jo Daviess County, Illinois as 
follows: 
 
SECTION I:  The official Zoning Map of the City of Galena shall hereby be amended to change 
the zoning on approximately 0.92 acres, Parcel: 22-101-016-00, N Part of E ½ of Lot 1, N Part of 
W 180’ of Lot 2, Lots 1, 2 and N 17’ of Lot 3 in the Subdivision of the West ½ of Lot 1, Block 59, 
Original Lots of Galena, Galena, Jo Daviess County, Illinois, from Low Density Residential District 
to Neighborhood Commercial District. 
 
SECTION II: All other provisions of the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map shall remain in 
full force and effect. 
 
SECTION III:  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION IV:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect within ten (10) days of its passage 
and legal publication. 
 
SECTION V:  Passed on this __th day of ________________, A.D. 2019, in open Council. 
 
 
AYES:       NAYS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________                                   ____________________________   
Terry Renner, Mayor     Mary Beth Hyde, City Clerk 

Page 63 of 106



CITY OF GALENA, ILLINOIS 
                                        101 Green Street, P.O. Box 310, Galena, Illinois 61036 

Telephone: 815-777-1050     •     Facsimile: 815-777-3083     •     www.cityofgalena.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Honorable Mayor Renner, City Council and City Administrator 

FROM: Matt Oldenburg, Zoning Administrator 

DATE:  September 18, 2019 

RE: Cal. No. 19A-04, Applicant: City of Galena, 101 Green Street, Galena, IL 61036.  
Request for Text Amendment to Zoning Code of Ordinances to allow Adult-Use 
Cannabis Land Uses in select zoning districts. 

 
Summary: 
 
The imminent legalization of Adult-Use Cannabis by the State requires action by the City to 
create provisions for the various cannabis-related activities and business types.  The City 
Council, after two discussions, directed me to initiate a text amendment to roll-out the ordinances 
for Adult-Use Cannabis Businesses under the Zoning Code of Ordinances as provided by the 
State. 
 
In a nutshell, the Illinois Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act is 471 pages long with very explicit 
and deliberate language to regulate the administration and operations of Adult-Use Cannabis 
businesses.  The Act will sequentially allow these businesses in multiple phases over the next 
few years.  Essentially, existing Medical Cannabis companies will claim State licenses in the 
initial phase; followed-by Conditional Adult-Use Cannabis licenses with preference going to 
candidates under a Social Equity program; and then lastly licenses open to everyone else who 
qualify. 
 
The City must not create ordinances more restrictive than the Statute; but, may regulate through 
the Zoning Ordinance with regard to land use regulations, distance requirements from areas such 
as residential districts and schools / day care facilities.  I’ve included the local ordinance 
provisions below from the Act for your reference. 
 
The proposed ordinance is drafted from a recommended model ordinance provided by the 
Illinois Municipal League. 
 
A map of the areas prohibited by the proposed ordinance is included for your visual reference. 
 
At their meeting on September 11th, the ZBA recommended approval to the City Council for this 
request. 
 
I will be available for any questions. 
 

Page 64 of 106



2 of 3 

(410 ILCS 705/55-25)  
    Sec. 55-25. Local ordinances. Unless otherwise provided under this 
Act or otherwise in accordance with State law: 
        (1) A unit of local government, including a home rule  

     

unit or any non-home rule county within the unincorporated 
territory of the county, may enact reasonable zoning ordinances or 
resolutions, not in conflict with this Act or rules adopted 
pursuant to this Act, regulating cannabis business establishments. 
No unit of local government, including a home rule unit or any non-
home rule county within the unincorporated territory of the county, 
may prohibit home cultivation or unreasonably prohibit use of 
cannabis authorized by this Act. 

 

        (2) A unit of local government, including a home rule  

     

unit or any non-home rule county within the unincorporated 
territory of the county, may enact ordinances or rules not in 
conflict with this Act or with rules adopted pursuant to this Act 
governing the time, place, manner, and number of cannabis business 
establishment operations, including minimum distance limitations 
between cannabis business establishments and locations it deems 
sensitive, including colleges and universities, through the use of 
conditional use permits. A unit of local government, including a 
home rule unit, may establish civil penalties for violation of an 
ordinance or rules governing the time, place, and manner of 
operation of a cannabis business establishment or a conditional use 
permit in the jurisdiction of the unit of local government. No unit 
of local government, including a home rule unit or non-home rule 
county within an unincorporated territory of the county, may 
unreasonably restrict the time, place, manner, and number of 
cannabis business establishment operations authorized by this Act. 

 

        (3) A unit of local government, including a home rule  

     

unit, or any non-home rule county within the unincorporated 
territory of the county may regulate the on-premises consumption of 
cannabis at or in a cannabis business establishment within its 
jurisdiction in a manner consistent with this Act. A cannabis 
business establishment or other entity authorized or permitted by a 
unit of local government to allow on-site consumption shall not be 
deemed a public place within the meaning of the Smoke Free Illinois 
Act. 

 

        (4) A unit of local government, including a home rule  

     

unit or any non-home rule county within the unincorporated 
territory of the county, may not regulate the activities described 
in paragraph (1), (2), or (3) in a manner more restrictive than the 
regulation of those activities by the State under this Act. This 
Section is a limitation under subsection (i) of Section 6 of 
Article VII of the Illinois Constitution on the concurrent exercise 
by home rule units of powers and functions exercised by the State. 

 

        (5) A unit of local government, including a home rule  

     
unit or any non-home rule county within the unincorporated 
territory of the county, may enact ordinances to prohibit or 
significantly limit a cannabis business establishment's location. 

 

(Source: P.A. 101-27, eff. 6-25-19.) 
 
 
 

Page 65 of 106



3 of 3 

Approval Criteria & Recommendation for Text Amendment: 
 
In order to maintain internal consistency within this code and on the zoning map, proposed amendments to 
the text and zoning map must be consistent with the purposes stated herein. 

In determining whether the proposed amendment shall be approved, the following factors shall be 
considered: 

               (1)     Whether the existing text or zoning designation was in error at the time of adoption;   

               (2)     Whether there has been a change of character in the area or throughout the city due to 
installation of public facilities, other zone changes, new growth trends, deterioration, development 
transitions, etc.;  

               (3)     Whether the proposed rezoning is compatible with the surrounding area and defining 
characteristics of the proposed zoning district or whether there may be adverse impacts on the capacity or 
safety of the portion of street network influenced by the rezoning, parking problems, or environmental 
impacts that the new zone may generate such as excessive storm water runoff, water, air or noise 
pollution, excessive nighttime lighting, or other nuisances;   

               (4)     Whether the proposal is in conformance with and in furtherance of the implementation of 
the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan, other adopted plans, and the policies, intents and 
requirements of this code, and other city regulations and guidelines;   

               (5)     Whether adequate public facilities and services are available or will be made available 
concurrent with the projected impacts of development in the proposed zone;  

               (6)     Whether there is an adequate supply of land available in the subject area and the 
surrounding community to accommodate the zoning and community needs; or 

               (7)     Whether there is a need in the community for the proposal and whether there will be 
benefits derived by the community or area by the proposed rezoning.   

The Zoning Administrator and Zoning Board of Appeals shall make recommendations and the City 
Council shall take final action. 

          (1)     When the Zoning Board of Appeals or City Council deems it necessary or expedient, 
additional property in the zoning district may be considered for a zoning change provided that this 
additional property is also addressed in the public hearing notice, in accordance with § 154.919(F). 

          (2)     In the event of a written protest against a proposed amendment signed and 
acknowledged by the owners of 20% of the frontage proposed to be altered or by the owners of 
20% of the frontage immediately adjoining or across the alley or rear line therefrom or by the 
owners of 20% of the frontage directly opposite the frontage proposed to be altered as to such 
regulations or zoning district and field with the City Clerk, such amendment shall not be passed 
except by the favorable vote of two-thirds of all of the selected members of the City Council. 

 

Page 66 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 1 
 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 

DETERMINATION & RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF GALENA 

 
REGARDING 

 
CALENDAR NUMBER:  Cal. No. 19A-04 
 
APPLICATION BY:  City of Galena, 101 Green Street, Galena, IL 61036 
 
FOR: Request for Text Amendment to Zoning Code of Ordinances 

to allow Adult-Use Cannabis Land Uses in select zoning 
districts. 

 
PROCEDURES 
 
Pursuant to law, a public hearing was held by the Galena Zoning Board of Appeals regarding this 
matter on September 11, 2019.  The hearing was advertised in an edition of the Galena Gazette, in 
a quarter-page sized ad, that was available to the general public between 15 and 30 days prior to 
the hearing.  They were invited to testify if they so desired.  A quorum of the Board was present 
at the hearing in which the subject application and materials were reviewed and all persons were 
heard who desired to testify. 
 
NATURE OF APPLICATION 
 
The imminent legalization of Adult-Use Cannabis by the State requires action by the City to 
create provisions for the various cannabis-related activities and business types.  The City 
Council, after two discussions, directed to initiate a text amendment to roll-out the ordinances for 
Adult-Use Cannabis Businesses under the Zoning Code of Ordinances as provided by the State. 
 
The Illinois Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act is 471 pages long with very explicit and deliberate 
language to regulate the administration and operations of Adult-Use Cannabis businesses.  The 
Act will sequentially allow these businesses in multiple phases over the next few years.  
Essentially, existing Medical Cannabis companies will claim State licenses in the initial phase; 
followed-by Conditional Adult-Use Cannabis licenses with preference going to candidates under 
a Social Equity program; and then lastly licenses open to everyone else who qualify. 
 
The City must not create ordinances more restrictive than the Statute; but, may regulate through 
the Zoning Ordinance with regard to land use regulations, distance requirements from areas such 
as residential districts and schools / day care facilities.   
 
The proposed ordinance is drafted from a recommended model ordinance provided by the 
Illinois Municipal League. 
 

Page 67 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 2 
 

At their meeting on September 11th, the ZBA recommended approval to the City Council for this 
request. 
 
PUBLIC SUPPORT AND/OR OBJECTIONS 
 
Testimony presented in favor of the request: 
 
§ Matt Oldenburg, Zoning Administrator, presented for the city.  Oldenburg said over the 

past month the city council discussed whether to allow Adult Use Cannabis as a result of the 
Illinois Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act.  The state will phase in these businesses.  In 2020 
existing Medical Cannabis companies will be able to claim state licenses in the initial phase.  
In 2021 Conditional Adult Use Cannabis licenses will be issued with preference going to 
candidates under a Social Equity program.  Finally, in 2022 the licenses will be open to 
anyone else who qualifies.  The Illinois Municipal League crafted a model ordinance which 
they sent out to municipalities.  We took that information and formed it to our regulations.  
The council wants to make provisions to allow it in the city.   
 
The first section of tonight’s proposal is in the definitions including growing facilities, 
dispensaries and manufacturing type activities.   
 
The second section is the table of permitted land uses.  First are agricultural uses which 
include cultivation centers and craft growing facilities allowed by Special Use Permit only in 
limited ag and three industrial districts. Next are commercial uses of dispensing which would 
be allowed by SUP only in the downtown commercial district and the three industrial 
districts.  Finally, the industrial uses which involve infusing operations, processing 
operations and transportation operations which would only be allowed in the three industrial 
districts.  Dispensing organizations could be co-located with industrial uses.   
 
The detailed land use regulations have all the detailed regulations for each type of land use 
and was based on the model ordinance.  There is a recurring theme running through this.  
Generally, there is a 250-foot requirement from any residentially zoned district and a 1000-
foot requirement from any school, day care or preschool.  A map was developed showing the 
areas where any of this activity would be prohibited.  There are other layers involved with 
the state tax act such as no adult cannabis facilities can be located within 1500 feet of each 
other.  This is also overlain with the city’s zoning districts to further define locations.  
Additionally, there are parking requirements specified in the land uses.    
 
Rosenthal asked about parking.  No other businesses in the downtown area are required to 
have parking.     
 
Oldenburg said the parking requirement is exempt in the downtown district or if there is a 
change of use to an existing building.  All operations would have to show compliance with 
the state act.    
 
Baranski said the only two aspects that can be regulated by the city are the parking and 
distance requirements. 

Page 68 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 3 
 

 
Oldenburg said the state act for local ordinance describes what the city’s powers are – we can 
prohibit it completely, regulate how close they are to each other while still honoring the 
1500-foot state requirement and we cannot make it more restrictive than the state act.     
 
Jansen asked about restrictions for parks.   
 
Oldenburg said they were not in the model ordinance, but we could include this.   
 
Jansen asked about Rec Park.   
 
Oldenburg said the majority of Rec Park is restricted due to its proximity to a residential 
district.  Rec Park is owned by the city so no facility would be located here.   
 
Baranski asked about Washington Park.  If parks were included in the 1000-foot restriction 
nothing could be allowed on Main or Commerce streets. 
 
Oldenburg said the council does not want anything on Main Street, but they indicated they 
would be fine if a facility were on Commerce Street. 
 
Calvert asked about businesses that are also residences in the industrial district.   
 
Oldenburg said these were zoned general commercial.  To include this use would allow the 
downtown examples of this so it was omitted.  If the Board wanted to exclude in some areas 
but allow in the industrial districts, we could talk about an overlay district. 
 
Cook asked about co-locations.  Why wouldn’t everyone want to do this.   
 
Oldenburg said there are a lot of factors to this.  Some only want to do one facet.  The cost of 
starting a business is quite large.  Some cultivation or craft growers may want to have 
distribution or infusion.  Most dispensing organizations do it independently unless it is an 
accessory of the growing facility.   
 
Rosenthal said the only co-locations would be in the industrial districts.   
 
Oldenburg said basically yes. 
 
Baranski asked about smoking on site.  The state act allows this correct.   
 
Oldenburg said if the municipality allows this.  The powers given to municipalities state we 
can allow or disallow the onsite smoking.  The city does not handle any of the licensing – the 
state controls all of that as well as regulating personal use:  how much a person can have on 
them, how much they can consume on site, etc.  All people involved with the organization 
and the products distributed or grown will be carefully monitored.  We are regulating the 
locations only.  How the businesses operate is controlled by the state.   
 

Page 69 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 4 
 

Jansen asked about tax collection.   
 
Oldenburg said the city is working on passing an occupation tax which would allow them to 
collect 3% of the gross sales as well as a 2% of sales tax.  
 
Cook asked about taxes on the medical cannabis companies. 
 
Oldenburg said the provider would pay the tax.  This use cannot be regulated by us – they 
can be located anywhere.   
 
Calvert asked if a medical cannabis company could also have an adult use distribution. 
 
Oldenburg said he thought they could, but they would have to have a secondary license.  
Currently there are very few available licenses and every district has a license limit so 
companies must choose the communities where they locate which will be market driven.   
 
Nack said the medical facility would still need to comply with our set back regulations if they 
were to seek a secondary license.        
 
Jansen asked if the county would allow this.   
 
Nack said they could.   
 
Testimony presented in opposition to the request 
 

§ Rick Pariser, 113 South High Street, Galena, said he is specifically opposed to the 
dispensing of cannabis.  The other facets of the operations would be closed to the public.  He 
is not in favor of dispensing in the downtown area.  The zoning board is charged with 
determining where these facilities can be allowed.  On behalf of the image of Galena and all 
those who live here and visit a dispensing facility should not be located where our main source 
of income comes from.  He would like to see the dispensaries limited to the industrial districts.  
The city would not have to rush into this; we could later expand it to a site such as Commerce 
Street.  It seems we have enough legal vices and now as a government we are sanctioning 
something that is injurious to our health.   
 

APPLICABLE SECTIONS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE 
 
§ Article 4, Table §154.403.1 Permitted Land Uses Table sets forth the land uses and which 

districts they are allowed. 
§ Article 4, Section §154.406 (B),(D) & (G) Principal Agricultural, Commercial and Industrial 

Land Uses set forth the detailed land use descriptions. 
§ Article 6, Table §154.601.3 Minimum Required Parking Spaces sets forth the required off-

street parking spaces by land use.  
§ Article 9, Section §154.919 sets forth the Non-Administrative Development Review Common 

Elements of Procedures. 

Page 70 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 5 
 

§ Article 9, Section §154.920 sets forth the procedures for Zoning Code Amendment and 
Rezoning. 

 
DETERMINATION 
 
Based upon the facts in this case, the Zoning Board of Appeals does find and conclude that the 
request by the City of Galena for a text amendment as described above should be approved for the 
following reasons: 

(1)     Whether the existing text or zoning designation was in error at the time of 
adoption;  N/A 

(2)     Whether there has been a change of character in the area or throughout the city due 
to installation of public facilities, other zone changes, new growth trends, deterioration, 
development transitions, etc.; N/A. 

(3)     Whether the proposed rezoning is compatible with the surrounding area and 
defining characteristics of the proposed zoning district or whether there may be adverse impacts 
on the capacity or safety of the portion of street network influenced by the rezoning, parking 
problems, or environmental impacts that the new zone may generate such as excessive storm 
water runoff, water, air or noise pollution, excessive nighttime lighting, or other nuisances;  N/A 

(4)     Whether the proposal is in conformance with and in furtherance of the 
implementation of the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan, other adopted plans, and 
the policies, intents and requirements of this code, and other city regulations and guidelines;  
This amendment is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan. 

(5)     Whether adequate public facilities and services are available or will be made 
available concurrent with the projected impacts of development in the proposed zone; There are 
adequate public facilities and services available. 

(6)     Whether there is an adequate supply of land available in the subject area and the 
surrounding community to accommodate the zoning and community needs; or  Yes, there is 
adequate land to accommodate this use. 

(7)     Whether there is a need in the community for the proposal and whether there will 
be benefits derived by the community or area by the proposed rezoning.  There will be a need 
after legalization by the State. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 6 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that this Zoning Board of Appeals does recommend to 
the City Council of the City of Galena that this request by the City of Galena for a Text Amendment 
as described above should be approved as proposed. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED this 11th day of September, A.D. 2019, by the Galena Zoning Board 
of Appeals by a vote of 5 ayes, 2 nays, 0 absent, 0 abstain, 0 recused. 
 
 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      John Rosenthal, Chairperson 
 

Page 72 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 1 

Ordinance #O - 1__ - __ __ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE 0, SECTION §154.015 – DEFINITIONS AND ARTICLE 4, TABLE 
154.403.1 – PERMITTED LAND USES AND SECTION §154.406 – DETAILED LAND USE DESCRIPTIONS OF 

THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GALENA 
_____________________________________________________________________   

 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Galena, Jo Daviess County, Illinois as follows: 
 
 
SECTION I:  Section §154.015 – Definitions of the City of Galena Zoning Code, is hereby amended as follows  
 
§ (Additions are shown as underlined) 
 
Section §154.015 - Definitions 
 
Adult-Use Cannabis Business Establishment: 
An adult-use cannabis cultivation center, craft grower, processing organization, infuser organization, dispensing 
organization or transporting organization. 
 
Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower: 
A facility operated by an organization or business that is licensed by the Illinois Department of Agriculture to 
cultivate, dry, cure and package cannabis and perform other necessary activities to make cannabis available for 
sale at a dispensing organization or use at a processing organization, per the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act, 
(P.A. 101-0027), as it may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations promulgated thereunder.  
 
Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Center: 
A facility operated by an organization or business that is licensed by the Illinois Department of Agriculture to 
cultivate, process, transport and perform necessary activities to provide cannabis and cannabis-infused products 
to licensed cannabis business establishments, per the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act, (P.A. 101-0027), as it 
may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization: 
A facility operated by an organization or business that is licensed by the Illinois Department of Financial and 
Professional Regulation to acquire cannabis from licensed cannabis business establishments for the purpose of 
selling or dispensing cannabis, cannabis-infused products, cannabis seeds, paraphernalia or related supplies to 
purchasers or to qualified registered medical cannabis patients and caregivers, per the Cannabis Regulation and 
Tax Act, (P.A. 101-0027), as it may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser Organization Or Infuser:  
A facility operated by an organization or business that is licensed by the Illinois Department of Agriculture to 
directly incorporate cannabis or cannabis concentrate into a product formulation to produce a cannabis-infused 
product, per the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act, (P.A. 101-0027), as it may be amended from time-to-time, 
and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization Or Processor: 
A facility operated by an organization or business that is licensed by the Illinois Department of Agriculture to 
either extract constituent chemicals or compounds to produce cannabis concentrate or  incorporate cannabis 
or cannabis concentrate into a product formulation to produce a cannabis product, per the Cannabis Regulation 

Page 73 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 2 

and Tax Act, (P.A. 101-0027), as it may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 
 
Adult-Use Cannabis Transporting Organization Or Transporter:  
An organization or business that is licensed by the Illinois Department of Agriculture to transport cannabis on 
behalf of a cannabis business establishment or a community college licensed under the Community College 
Cannabis Vocational Training Pilot Program, per the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act, (P.A. 101-0027), as it 
may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
 
SECTION II:  Table 154.403.1 – Permitted Land Uses of the City of Galena Zoning Code, is hereby amended as follows: 
 
§ (Additions are shown as underlined and highlighted) 

 
 

Table 154.403.1. Permitted Land Uses 
 

LA CSR LDR MDR HDR NO PO NC PC GC DC PI LI HI 

Type of Land Use 
 

Principal  
Agricultural Land  

Uses 
 (154.406 (B)) 

P P P P P P P P P P P    (1) Cultivation 

P P P P P P P P P P P    (2) Husbandry 

S S S S S S S S S S S    (3) Agricultural Services 

P P P P P P P P P P P    
(4) On-Site Agricultural 
Retail 

           S S S (5) Selective Cutting 

              (6) Clear Cutting 

S           S S S 
(7) Adult-Use Cannabis 
Cultivation 

P = Permitted by Right (See section 154.402(A))  S = Permitted by a Special Use (See section 154.402 (B)) 

 
 LA   Limited Agricultural  HDR   High Density Residential  PC   Planned Commercial  LI   Light Industrial 
 CSR   Countryside Residential  NO   Neighborhood Office  GC   General Commercial  HI   Heavy Industrial 
 LDR   Low Density Residential  PO   Planned Office   DC   Downtown Commercial   
 MDR   Medium Density Residential NC   Neighborhood Commercial  PI   Planned Industrial 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 3 

Table 154.403.1. Permitted Land Uses 

LA CSR LDR MDR HDR NO PO NC PC GC DC PI LI HI 

Type of Land Use 
 

Principal 
Commercial Land 

Uses 
(154.406 (D)) 

     P P P P P P P P P (1) Office 

     S S P P P P S   
(2) Personal or 
Professional Service 

S S    S  P P P P P P P (3) Artisan Studio 

      S P P P P S   
(4) Sales and Service, 
Indoor 

         P    P 
(5) Sales and Service, 
Outdoor Display 

         P     
(6) Sales and Service, 
In-Vehicle 

 S S S S S         
(7) Accommodations, 
Bed & Breakfast 

  S   S  S S S S    (8) Accommodations, 
Small Inn 

      S  S P S S   
(9) Accommodations, 
Hotel/Motel 

      S S P P P S   
(10) Entertainment, 
Indoor Commercial 

S         S   S  
(11) Entertainment, 
Outdoor Commercial 

            S S 
(12) Entertainment, 
Adult 

        S P S P P P 
(13) Maintenance  
Service, Indoor 

         S    P 
(14) Maintenance 
Service, Outdoor 

S         S    S 
(15) Commercial 
Animal Boarding 

         P   P P 
(16) Vehicle Repair and 
Maintenance 

     P  P  P P    (17) House Tour 

S S S S    S  S S    
(18) Accommodations, 
Vacation Rental 

          S S S S 
(19) Adult-Use Cannabis 
Dispensing Organization 

P = Permitted by Right (See section 154.402(A))  S = Permitted by a Special Use (See section 154.402 (B)) 

 
 LA   Limited Agricultural  HDR   High Density Residential  PC   Planned Commercial  LI   Light Industrial 
 CSR   Countryside Residential  NO   Neighborhood Office  GC   General Commercial  HI   Heavy Industrial 
 LDR   Low Density Residential  PO   Planned Office   DC   Downtown Commercial   
 MDR   Medium Density Residential NC   Neighborhood Commercial  PI   Planned Industrial 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 75 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 4 

Table 154.403.1. Permitted Land Uses 
 

LA CSR LDR MDR HDR NO PO NC PC GC DC PI LI HI 

Type of Land Use 
 

Principal Industrial 
Uses (154.406 (G)) 

P P P P P P P P P P P    (1) Light Industrial 

P P P P P P P P P P P    (2) Heavy Industrial 

S S S S S S S S S S S    
(3) Communication 
Tower 

P P P P P P P P P P P    (4) Extraction Use 

           S S S 
(5) Adult-Use Cannabis 
Industrial 

P = Permitted by Right (See section 154.402(A))  S = Permitted by a Special Use (See section 154.402 (B)) 

 
 LA   Limited Agricultural  HDR   High Density Residential  PC   Planned Commercial  LI   Light Industrial 
 CSR   Countryside Residential  NO   Neighborhood Office  GC   General Commercial  HI   Heavy Industrial 
 LDR   Low Density Residential  PO   Planned Office   DC   Downtown Commercial   
 MDR   Medium Density Residential NC   Neighborhood Commercial  PI   Planned Industrial 

 
 
 
SECTION III:  Section §154.406 (B) – Principal Agricultural Land Uses of the City of Galena Zoning Code, is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
§ (Additions are shown as underlined) 
 
(B)   Principal Agricultural Land Uses. 
 

(7) Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation.  The following components of the Adult-Use Cannabis Facility shall be 
evaluated based on the entirety of the circumstances affecting the particular property in the context of the existing 
and intended future use of the properties: 

 
(a) Additional requirements to be designated in Special Use Permit: 

 
1. Hours of operation and anticipated number of customers/employees. 

 
2. Anticipated parking demand based on Table 154.601.3 and available private parking supply. 

 
3. Anticipated traffic generation in the context of adjacent roadway capacity and access to such roadways. 

 
4. Proposed signage plan. 

 
5. Compliance with all requirements provided in Section §154.406(B)(7)(b)(1) (Adult-Use Cannabis Craft 

Grower); §154.406(B)(7)(b)(2) (Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Center), as applicable. 
 

(b) Allowable uses and detailed regulations under §154.406(B)(7) of this Title: 
 

1. Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower: In those zoning districts in which an Adult-Use Cannabis 
Cultivation may be located, the proposed Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower facility must comply with the 
following: 
 
a. Facility may not be located within 1,000 feet of the property line of a pre-existing public or private 

nursery school, preschool, primary or secondary school or day care center. Learning centers and 

Page 76 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 5 

vocational/trade centers shall not be classified as a public or private school for purposes of this 
Section. 
 

b. Facility may not be located within 250 feet of the property line of a pre-existing property in a 
residential zoning district. 
 

c. Facility may not conduct any sales or distribution of cannabis other than as authorized by the Act. 
 

d. For purposes of determining required parking, Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower shall be classified 
as “Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation” per Table 154.601.3 (Minimum Required Parking Spaces: 
Principal Agricultural Uses), provided, however, that the City may require that additional parking be 
provided as a result of the analysis completed through §154.924 Special Use Permits herein. 
 

e. Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the City affirming compliance with §154.406(B)(7)(b)(1) as 
provided herein and all other requirements of the Act. 

 
f. Additional Requirements: Petitioner shall install building enhancements, such as security cameras, 

lighting or other improvements, as set forth in the conditional use permit, to ensure the safety of 
employees and customers of the adult-use cannabis business establishments, as well as its environs. 
Said improvements shall be determined based on the specific characteristics of the floor plan for an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Business Establishment and the site on which it is located, consistent with the 
requirements of the Act. 
 

2. Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Center: In those zoning districts in which an Adult-Use Cannabis 
Cultivation Center may be located, the proposed facility must comply with the following: 
 
a. Facility may not be located within 1,000 feet of the property line of a pre-existing public or private 

nursery school, preschool, primary or secondary school or day care center. Learning centers and 
vocational/trade centers shall not be classified as a public or private school for purposes of this 
Section. 
 

b. Facility may not be located within 250 feet of the property line of a pre-existing property in a 
residential zoning district. 
 

c. Facility may not conduct any sales or distribution of cannabis other than as authorized by the Act. 
 

d. For purposes of determining required parking, Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Centers shall be 
classified as “Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation” per Table 154.601.3 (Minimum Required Parking 
Spaces: Principal Agricultural Uses), provided, however, that the City may require that additional 
parking be provided as a result of the analysis completed through §154.924 Special Use Permits 
herein.  

 
e. Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the City affirming compliance with §154.406(B)(7)(b)(2) as 

provided herein and all other requirements of the Act.  
 

f. Additional Requirements: Petitioner shall install building enhancements, such as security cameras, 
lighting or other improvements, as set forth in the conditional use permit, to ensure the safety of 
employees and customers of the adult-use cannabis business establishments, as well as its environs. 
Said improvements shall be determined based on the specific characteristics of the floor plan for an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Business Establishment and the site on which it is located, consistent with the 
requirements of the Act. 

 
 
 

Page 77 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 6 

SECTION IV:  Section §154.406 (D) – Principal Commercial Land Uses of the City of Galena Zoning Code, is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
§ (Additions are shown as underlined) 
 
(D)   Principal Commercial Land Uses. 
 

(19) Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization.  The following components of the Adult-Use Cannabis 
Facility shall be evaluated based on the entirety of the circumstances affecting the particular property in the context 
of the existing and intended future use of the properties: 

 
(a) Additional requirements to be designated in Special Use Permit: 

 
1. Hours of operation and anticipated number of customers/employees. 

 
2. Anticipated parking demand based on Table 154.601.3 and available private parking supply. 

 
3. Anticipated traffic generation in the context of adjacent roadway capacity and access to such roadways. 

 
4. Proposed signage plan. 

 
5. Compliance with all requirements provided in Section §154.406(D)(19)(b)(1) (Adult-Use Cannabis 

Dispensing Organization), as applicable. 
 

(b) Allowable uses and detailed regulations under §154.406(D)(19) of this Title: 
 

1. Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization: In those zoning districts in which an Adult-Use 
Cannabis Dispensing Organization may be located, the proposed facility must comply with the following: 
 
a. Facility may not be located within 1,000 feet of the property line of a pre-existing public or private 

nursery school, preschool, primary or secondary school or day care center. Learning centers and 
vocational/trade centers shall not be classified as a public or private school for purposes of this 
Section. 
 

b. Facility may not be located in a dwelling unit or within 250 feet of the property line of a pre-existing 
property in a residential zoning district. 

 
c. At least 75% of the floor area of any tenant space occupied by a dispensing organization shall be 

devoted to the activities of the dispensing organization as authorized by the Act, and no dispensing 
organization shall also sell food for consumption on the premises other than as authorized in 
§154.406(D)(19)(b)(1)(e) below in the same tenant space. 

 
d. Facility may not conduct any sales or distribution of cannabis other than as authorized by the Act. 

 
e. Facility may be issued a permit to host on-site consumption of cannabis if located in a freestanding 

structure occupied solely by the dispensing organization and smoke from the facility does not migrate 
into an enclosed area where smoking is prohibited. The security plan for the facility required by 
§154.406(D)(19)(b)(1)(i) (Additional Requirements) shall also reflect adequate provisions to respond 
to disruptive conduct and over-consumption. The on-site consumption permit shall be reviewed 
annually and may be suspended or revoked following notice and hearing as provided in §154.919(O) 
of the City of Galena Zoning Code. 

 
f. For purposes of determining required parking, said facilities shall be classified as “Adult-Use 

Cannabis Commercial” per Table 154.601.3 (Minimum Required Parking Spaces: Principal 

Page 78 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 7 

Commercial Uses), provided, however, that the City may require that additional parking be provided 
as a result of the analysis completed through §154.924 Special Use Permits herein. 

 
g. Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the City affirming compliance with §154.406(D)(19)(b)(1) as 

provided herein and all other requirements of the Act. 
 

h. Co-Location of Cannabis Business Establishments. The City may approve the co-location of an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization with an Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower Center or an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser Organization, or both, subject to the provisions of the Act and the 
Conditional Use criteria within the City of Galena Zoning Code. In a co-location, the floor space 
requirements of §154.406(D)(19)(b)(1)(c) and §154.406(G)(5)(b)(1)(c) shall not apply, but the co-
located establishments shall be the sole use of the tenant space. 

 
i. Additional Requirements: Petitioner shall install building enhancements, such as security cameras, 

lighting or other improvements, as set forth in the conditional use permit, to ensure the safety of 
employees and customers of the adult-use cannabis business establishments, as well as its environs. 
Said improvements shall be determined based on the specific characteristics of the floor plan for an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Business Establishment and the site on which it is located, consistent with the 
requirements of the Act. 

 
SECTION V:  Section §154.406 (G) – Principal Industrial Land Uses of the City of Galena Zoning Code, is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
§ (Additions are shown as underlined) 
 
(G)   Principal Industrial Land Uses. 
 

(5) Adult-Use Cannabis Industrial.  The following components of the Adult-Use Cannabis Facility shall be 
evaluated based on the entirety of the circumstances affecting the particular property in the context of the existing 
and intended future use of the properties: 

 
(a) Additional requirements to be designated in Special Use Permit: 

 
1. Hours of operation and anticipated number of customers/employees. 

 
2. Anticipated parking demand based on Table 154.601.3 and available private parking supply. 

 
3. Anticipated traffic generation in the context of adjacent roadway capacity and access to such roadways. 

 
4. Proposed signage plan. 

 
5. Compliance with all requirements provided in §154.406(G)(5)(b)(1) (Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser 

Organization); §154.406(G)(5)(b)(2) (Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization); and 
§154.406(G)(5)(b)(3) (Adult-Use Cannabis Transporting Organization), as applicable. 
 

(b) Allowable uses and detailed regulations under §154.406(G)(5) of this Title: 
 

1. Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser Organization: In those zoning districts in which an Adult-Use Cannabis 
Infuser Organization may be located, the proposed facility must comply with the following: 
 
a. Facility may not be located within 1,000 feet of the property line of a pre-existing public or private 

nursery school, preschool, primary or secondary school or day care center. Learning centers and 
vocational/trade centers shall not be classified as a public or private school for purposes of this 
Section. 
 

Page 79 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 8 

b. Facility may not be located in a dwelling unit or within 250 feet of the property line of a pre-existing 
property in a residential zoning district. 
 

c. At least 75% of the floor area of any tenant space occupied by an infusing organization shall be 
devoted to the activities of the infusing organization as authorized by the Act. Facility may not 
conduct any sales or distribution of cannabis other than as authorized by the Act. 
 

d. For purposes of determining required parking, said facilities shall be classified as “Adult-Use 
Cannabis Industrial” per Table 154.601.3 (Minimum Required Parking Spaces: Storage, Wholesaling 
& Industrial Uses), provided, however, that the City may require that additional parking be provided 
as a result of the analysis completed through §154.924 Special Use Permits herein. 

 
e. Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the City affirming compliance with §154.406(G)(5)(b)(1) as 

provided herein and all other requirements of the Act.  
 

f. Additional Requirements: Petitioner shall install building enhancements, such as security cameras, 
lighting or other improvements, as set forth in the conditional use permit, to ensure the safety of 
employees and customers of the adult-use cannabis business establishments, as well as its environs. 
Said improvements shall be determined based on the specific characteristics of the floor plan for an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Business Establishment and the site on which it is located, consistent with the 
requirements of the Act. 

 
2. Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization: In those zoning districts in which an Adult-Use 

Cannabis Processing Organization may be located, the proposed facility must comply with the following: 
 
a. Facility may not be located within 1,000 feet of the property line of a pre-existing public or private 

nursery school, preschool, primary or secondary school or day care center. Learning centers and 
vocational/trade centers shall not be classified as a public or private school for purposes of this 
Section. 
 

b. Facility may not be located in a dwelling unit or within 250 feet of the property line of a pre-existing 
property in a residential zoning district. 

 
c. At least 75% of the floor area of any tenant space occupied by a processing organization shall be 

devoted to the activities of the processing organization as authorized by the Act. Facility may not 
conduct any sales or distribution of cannabis other than as authorized by the Act. 

 
d. For purposes of determining required parking, said facilities shall be classified as “Adult-Use 

Cannabis Industrial” per Table 154.601.3 (Minimum Required Parking Spaces: Storage, Wholesaling 
& Industrial Uses), provided, however, that the City may require that additional parking be provided 
as a result of the analysis completed through §154.924 Special Use Permits herein.  

 
e. Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the City affirming compliance with §154.406(G)(5)(b)(2) as 

provided herein and all other requirements of the Act. 
 

f. Additional Requirements: Petitioner shall install building enhancements, such as security cameras, 
lighting or other improvements, as set forth in the conditional use permit, to ensure the safety of 
employees and customers of the adult-use cannabis business establishments, as well as its environs. 
Said improvements shall be determined based on the specific characteristics of the floor plan for an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Business Establishment and the site on which it is located, consistent with the 
requirements of the Act. 

 
3. Adult-Use Cannabis Transporting Organization: In those zoning districts in which an Adult-Use 

Transporting Organization may be located, the proposed facility must comply with the following: 
 

Page 80 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 9 

a. Facility may not be located within 1,000 feet of the property line of a pre-existing public or private 
nursery school, preschool, primary or secondary school or day care center. Learning centers and 
vocational/trade centers shall not be classified as a public or private school for purposes of this 
Section. 
 

b. Facility may not be located in a dwelling unit or within 250 feet of the property line of a pre-existing 
property in a residential zoning district. 
 

c. The transporting organization shall be the sole use of the tenant space in which it is located. Facility 
may not conduct any sales or distribution of cannabis other than as authorized by the Act. 
 

d. For purposes of determining required parking, said facilities shall be classified as “Adult-Use 
Cannabis Industrial” per Table 154.601.3 (Minimum Required Parking Spaces: Storage, Wholesaling 
& Industrial Uses), provided, however, that the City may require that additional parking be provided 
as a result of the analysis completed through §154.924 Special Use Permits herein.  
 

e. Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the City affirming compliance with §154.406(G)(5)(b)(2) as 
provided herein and all other requirements of the Act. 

 
f. Additional Requirements: Petitioner shall install building enhancements, such as security cameras, 

lighting or other improvements, as set forth in the conditional use permit, to ensure the safety of 
employees and customers of the adult-use cannabis business establishments, as well as its environs. 
Said improvements shall be determined based on the specific characteristics of the floor plan for an 
Adult-Use Cannabis Business Establishment and the site on which it is located, consistent with the 
requirements of the Act. 

 
SECTION VI:  Table 154.601.3 – Minimum Required Parking Spaces of the City of Galena Zoning Code, is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
(Additions are shown as underlined) 
 

TABLE 154.601.3 
MINIMUM REQUIRED PARKING SPACES 

LAND USE REQUIRED NUMBER OF PARKING STALLS 
AGRICULTURAL 
…On-Site Agricultural Retail 1 per every 200 sq. ft. of product display area 

Adult-Use Cannabis Agriculture 1 per employee on the largest work shift 

COMMERCIAL  

…Accommodations, Vacation Rental – Single Room See § 154.406(H)(9) 

Adult-Use Cannabis Commercial 1 per 300 sq. ft. of gross floor area 

STORAGE, WHOLESALING & INDUSTRIAL  

…Extraction Use 1 per employee on the largest work shift 

Adult-Use Cannabis Industrial 1 per employee on the largest work shift 

 
 
SECTION VII: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION VIII:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect within ten (10) days of its passage and legal publication 
in pamphlet form. 
 
 
 

Page 81 of 106



Cal. No. 19A-04 10 

SECTION IX:  Passed on the __th day of________________, A.D., 201__, in open Council. 
 
 AYES:      NAYS:    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:   
 
 
 
____________________________________                  _________________________________  
TERRY RENNER, MAYOR    MARY BETH HYDE, CITY CLERK  

Page 82 of 106



0.00 0.25 0.50

Miles

 Map produced by the Jo Daviess County GIS/IT Department on 8/22/19.
 This is NOT a substitute for an actual field survey. Aerial imagery - 2016.

Page 83 of 106



CITY OF GALENA, ILLINOIS 
                                        101 Green Street, Galena, Illinois 61036 

Telephone: 815-777-1050          Facsimile: 815-777-3083          www.cityofgalena.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:    Honorable Mayor Renner and City Council 

FROM:   Mark Moran, City Administrator    

DATE:    September 12, 2019 

RE:    Employee Insurance 
 

Our employee health, dental, life, and short‐term disability insurance policies are subject to 
renewal November 1.  This report explains the cost changes, the costs relative to budget, and 
recommends renewing the health and dental policies. Cost‐savings changes are recommended 
for the life, disability and vision coverages.  
 
Policy Renewal 
The health insurance premium with Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Illinois (BCBS) is the largest 
component of the employee insurance package.  We have 28 employees on a high‐deductible, 
lower premium, Health Savings Account (HSA) policy and one employee on a more traditional 
deductible and co‐pay policy. The 28 employees include one current employee who enrolled for 
the first time in September after a qualifying event. Based on our current employee census, the 
premium cost of our health‐only policies would be $460,527.  After the cost of the premium 
dropped last year, the premium for health coverage would increase 7.2% this year.  
 
We obtained alternate quotes from Blue Cross/Blue Shield for policies similar to ours.  We 
found that our policy is grandfathered, and comparable current BCBS policies are more costly.  
We also requested quotes from other health insurance companies to measure the 
competitiveness of our BCBS policy premium.  Four companies were invited to quote.  Two 
companies provided quotes.  The comparison of quotes is shown below in Table 1. Our current 
policy was determined to be most competitive.  
 

Table 1. Comparison of Health Insurance Policy Costs 
 

 
Health Insurance Company 

Premium  
Cost 

Percent Increase  
from Current 

BCBS Renewal (Current Policy)  $460,527 7.2% 
United Healthcare   $538,876 19.8% 
Humana  $718,287 59.7% 
Aetna  Declined to quote NA 
Cigna  Declined to quote NA 

 

 

Page 84 of 106



 

2 of 4 

Under the proposed renewal scenario, we would retain our dental coverage with MetLife.  
Based on the current employee census, the annual dental premium would be $19,827, a 6% 
increase. This follows a 15% reduction in the dental premium in the current year.  We obtained 
competitive quotes from eight other insurers.  The quotes ranged from a 3% reduction to a 33% 
increase from the current premium. Changing policies requires considerable staff time and 
education of the employees and spouses. We propose to maintain the Met Life dental policy for 
the coming year and reevaluate its competitiveness again next year.  Again, the total dental 
premium for the year is $19,827. 
 
Cost savings are proposed for our life and short‐term disability policies. Shifting from Dearborn 
National to Argus would reduce the policy premiums 12% and 22%, respectively. The Argus 
rates are guaranteed for 24 months. The life and disability policies are relatively low cost with 
premiums of $1,528 and $969, respectively.    
 
The cost of all four policies and the percent changes from last year are shown in Table 2. 

 
Table 2.  Proposed Insurance Renewal Premiums 

 
 

Policy 
Renewal 
Cost 

Percent 
Change 

BCBS Health  $460,527 7.2% 
Met Life Dental  $19,827 6.0% 
Argus Life  $1,528 ‐12.9% 
Argus Short‐term Disability  $969 ‐22.7% 

 
Rate History 
The year‐to‐year change for each of our four policies for the years 2016‐2020 is shown in Table 
3 below.  The average annual change is also listed.  The proposed premiums are shown in year 
2019‐20 and highlighted in yellow. 

 
Table 3.  Insurance Premium Change per Year: 2016‐2020 

 
 

Policy 
2015‐16 
Change 

2016‐17 
Change 

2017‐18
Change 

2018‐19 
Change 

2019‐20 
Change 

5‐Year 
Average 

     
BCBS Health  12.90% 3.00% 0.58% ‐0.7% 7.2%  4.60%
Met Life Dental  ‐17.30% 4.90% ‐11.50% ‐15.40% 6.0%  ‐6.66%
Argus Life  7.3% 6.8% ‐24% 0% ‐12.9%  ‐4.46%
Argus Short‐term Disability  9.20% 0.00% ‐2.90% 0.00% ‐22.7%  ‐3.28%

 
Employee Share of Premium Costs 
In accordance with current collective bargaining contracts, each union employee will pay 20% 
of his/her combined premium for health, dental, life and disability.  Each non‐union employee 
will also pay 20% of his/her combined premium cost.  With the proposed policies and 
premiums, our 29 covered employees would pay a total of $97,107 toward premiums.    

Page 85 of 106



 

3 of 4 

 
Cost Comparison with Budget  
Proposed insurance renewal costs exceed the budget. The City’s share of the expected 
insurance premium costs for the insurance year, the current year budget for the expenses, and 
the projected budget surplus or deficit for each policy is shown in Table 4.  The proposed 
policies exceed the budget by $30,561. 
 

Table 4.  Proposed Insurance Renewal Premiums (City Share) vs. Budget 
 

 
Policies 

Projected  
Annual Cost  

Current 
Year Budget 

Budget 
Surplus/‐Deficit 

 
Health  $367,916 $338,500 ‐$29,416

Dental  $19,827 $14,260 ‐$1,573
Life and Short‐term Disability   $1,996 $2,425 $428

 TOTAL $385,745 $355,185 ‐$30,561
 
 
Vision Insurance 
For the past two years, we have offered vision insurance to employees on a voluntary basis 
with the participating employees responsible for all premium costs.  With rates frozen for the 
initial two years, we obtained competitive quotes this year.  By shifting the policy from 
Guardian to Argus, we would realize a premium savings of 40%.  The network (Davis Vision 
Network) and benefits would not change under Argus.  Again, participating employees pay 
100% of the vision premium costs.   
 
Health Savings Account  
When the City transitioned to the high deductible Health Savings Account in 2009, employee 
out‐of‐pocket costs increased while the City realized a significant savings in health insurance 
premiums.  The City shared the premium savings with employees by distributing dollars to each 
participating employee’s Health Savings Account (to be spent on eligible healthcare costs).  The 
distribution is made annually on January 1.  The amount distributed to each employee is based 
on the cost of their health policy and whether they elect dental coverage.  For the coming 
calendar year, HSA contributions to employees are again frozen at the 2017 level, unless the 
employee voluntarily elects a lower level of health coverage.  In such a case, the HSA 
distribution to that employee would decrease.  The total cost of the HSA distributions to 
employee accounts on January 1, 2020 would be $87,879.  This expense is slightly higher than 
anticipated since we have one additional employee electing health insurance coverage this 
year. The budget contains $84,775 for the HSA program, or $3,104 less than expected 
expenses.   
 
Recommendation 
Whereas, we experienced a $15,800 budget surplus for our insurance premiums last year, the 
proposed policies and premiums for this year would result in a budget deficit of $30,561.  The 
HSA distributions would add $3,104 to the deficit.  Since the new insurance year begins 

Page 86 of 106



 

4 of 4 

November 1, six months into our fiscal year, only half the deficit or $16,582, would be realized 
this fiscal year. A budget amendment should be executed to fund the insurance expense 
accounts appropriately.  The amendment could draw the needed funds from expense line 
01.41.840.01, “New Truck” in the Public Works Department.  The approved truck purchase in 
May of this year was $29,000 under the $90,000 budget.   
 
I recommend you approve the proposed policies with BlueCross, MetLife and Argus for health, 
dental, life and short‐term disability, respectively.  I also recommend that you approve the 
voluntary vision program with Argus.  Finally, I recommend that you approve the distribution of 
HSA funds to employee accounts, effective January 1, 2020, in accordance with the Health 
Savings Account Policy. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
  

 
 

Page 87 of 106



CITY OF GALENA, ILLINOIS 
                                        101 Green Street, Galena, Illinois 61036 

Telephone: 815-777-1050          Facsimile: 815-777-3083          www.cityofgalena.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:    Honorable Mayor Renner and City Council 

FROM:   Mark Moran, City Administrator    

DATE:    September 18, 2019 

RE:    Downtown Parking  
 
 
At the June 24 meeting, the council directed the staff to study the downtown parking situation 
and develop recommendations for consideration by the council.  Over the ensuing weeks, we 
prepared the attached “Developing a Holistic and Efficient Parking System” outline/report to 
initiate more discussion of this important topic.   
 
Please know that the report is based on observations and not formal studies or surveys of 
motorist perceptions, utilization of parking spaces, traffic counts, or cost‐benefit analyses. We 
are grateful to the Galena Downtown Business Association (GDBA) who conducted an informal 
door‐to‐door survey of businesses to assess the number of employees in the downtown and 
their driving/parking tendencies.  The results of the GDBA survey are included in the report.  
 
Our staff views the parking report as a first step toward implementing improvements to the 
downtown parking system.  Some of the potential improvements could be inexpensively 
implemented in the short term while others would take more time with considerably more 
cost.  We are prepared to study any of the concepts or projects in more detail for further 
evaluation by the council.  
 
We look forward to your discussion. Thank you for your consideration.  
 

   

 

Page 88 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 1 of 9 

 

Developing a Holistic and Efficient Parking System 

I. Existing Parking System: Inventory of Spaces 

A. Downtown District (Main Street, Commerce Street, Water Street, and 

Bench Street from Spring to Meeker) 
 

Public On‐Street  On‐Street Spaces  Percent 

Bench Street  153  13% 

Main Street  198  17% 

Commerce Street  88  8% 

Water Street  117  10% 

Meeker Street  20  2% 

Franklin Street  12  1% 

Perry Street  5  0.4% 

Washington Street  18  2% 

Green Street  4  0.3% 

TOTAL Public On‐Street Spaces  615  53% 

 

Public Parking Lots  Off‐Street Spaces  Percent 

Winery Municipal    29  2% 

City Hall Municipal    21  2% 

Commerce Street Municipal    57  5% 

Lemfco  30  3% 

Rigopolous Properties  159  14% 

Turner Hall Municipal    17  1% 

County Courthouse (Two Lots)  42  4% 

TOTAL Spaces in Public Lots  355  31% 

 
Private Off Street  Off‐Street Spaces  Percent 

McCoy Building  13  1% 

Gateway to History  10  1% 

Illinois Bank and Trust  9  1% 

Desoto Parking Ramp  95  8% 

Funeral Home Lot  20  2% 

Museum Lot (St. Michael's)  16  1% 

Burlingame Bench Street Lot  14  1% 

Behind 300 N. Main Block  16  1% 

TOTAL Spaces in Private Lots  193  17% 

        

TOTAL DOWNTOWN SPACES  1,163  100% 

   

Page 89 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 2 of 9 

 

B. Peripheral Downtown Parking (on‐street and parking lots) 
 

Public On‐Street  On‐Street Spaces  Percent 

Park Avenue  175  23% 

Johnson Street  12  2% 

TOTAL Public On‐Street Spaces  187  24% 

 
Public Parking Lots  Off‐Street Spaces  Percent 

Spring Street Municipal Lot  25  3% 

Canoe/Kayak Municipal Lot  21  3% 

Depot Municipal Lot  85  11% 

Depot Grass Overflow Area  450  59% 

TOTAL Spaces in Public Lots  581  76% 

        

TOTAL PERIPHERAL SPACES  768  100% 
 

C. Other Sizable Outlying Parking Areas 
 

Hotel Parking Lots   Off‐Street Spaces  Percent 

Ramada  231  10% 

Country Inn & Suites  92  4% 

Stoney Creek Inn  71  3% 

Best Western  51  2% 

Irish Cottage  236  11% 

Grant Hills  29  1% 

TOTAL Spaces in Hotel Lots  710  32% 

 
Other Sizable Parking Lots  Off‐Street Spaces  Percent 

Galena Gazette  18  1% 

Grant's Home (Two Lots)  35  2% 

Rec Park  253  11% 

Walmart  496  22% 

Honeywell  155  7% 

Galena Square  255  11% 

Galena Public Schools  296  13% 

TOTAL Spaces in Other Lots  1,508  68% 

        

TOTAL OTHER PARKING SPACES  2,218  100% 
 

 

Page 90 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 3 of 9 

 

II. Employee Parking 

1. Galena Downtown Business Association (GDBA) surveyed downtown 

businesses in the summer of 2019 and compiled the following results: 

a) 808 total employees in Downtown District  

b) 679 employees work in the Downtown District on average weekend day 

c) 105 employees walk to work in the Downtown District 

d) 76 private parking spaces are supplied for employees by the employers 

2. Based on the survey results and the inventory of public and private 

parking spaces in the Downtown District, approximately 50% of 

downtown parking spaces could be occupied by employees (574 

employees who drive and park in one of 1,163 public spaces—assuming 

each employee drives separately) 

3. Common perception is that many business owners and employees park 

on Main Street and other premium spaces during their work hours 

III. Public Perception of Parking in Galena 

A. Without study of actual parking usage, we can only make general 

observations   

1. Perceptions of Merchants: 

a) Need ability to access car during the day for errands 

b) Some merchants park on Main Street, others parking remotely 

c) Survey needed to reach firm conclusions 

2. Perceptions of Employees:  

a) Parking availability depends on day of week and shift start time  

b) Employees generally know where to find parking even when town is 

busy 

c) Survey needed to reach firm conclusions 

3. Perceptions of Residents:  

a) Residents understand the parking system 

b) Some residents avoid downtown during busiest times 

c) Residents generally know where to find parking even when town is busy 

d) Survey needed to reach firm conclusions 

4. Perceptions of Visitors:  

a) City receives very few complaints about parking  

b) Convenient parking can be difficult to find, especially on first pass  

c) Visitors want to park lawfully and are generally willing to pay for 

parking—especially all‐day parking  

d) Demand for parking conveys the desirability of Galena as a destination 

e) Survey needed to reach conclusions 

Page 91 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 4 of 9 

 

IV. Parking Usage 

A. Without study of actual parking usage, we can only make general 

observations  

1. When is there clearly a surplus of downtown parking? 

a) Annually on weekdays, Monday‐Thursday 

(1) All day and night 

b) Seasonally on holidays, Fridays and weekends  

(1) November‐May 

(2) Before noon 

(3) After 7:00 p.m. (after 5:00 on Sundays) 

2. When is there an apparent deficiency of downtown parking? 

a) Seasonally on holidays, Fridays and weekends 

(1) June‐October 

(2) Between noon and 7:00 p.m.  

3. Remote lots and second tier residential streets near downtown (Depot 

Park, below the Gazette, Park Avenue, Bouthillier Street, Franklin Street, 

Dewey Avenue) are typically full only on the busiest weekends in the fall 

V. Possible Parking System Improvements 

A. Community Service Officer 

1. Fill vacant position in the Police Department 

2. Officer to provide information to motorists and pedestrians about 

parking and wayfinding 

3. Enforce parking regulations in the Downtown District 

4. Requires purchase of updated/new hardware and software system for 

tracking and ticketing 
 

B. Marketing 

1. Enhanced emphasis on communicating parking system to visitors before 

they arrive 

a) Improve parking maps 

b) Use parking app to allow visitors to pay for parking by mobile phone 

c) Added emphasis in visitor guides 

d) Identify types of parking (paid, short term, long term, on‐street, lots) 

e) Consider tutorials for how to use machines for paid parking (print and 

video tutorials) 

f) Identify pedestrian routes from parking areas and hotels/motels 

2. Develop informational campaign for merchants and employees to 

communicate parking and commuting options   

Page 92 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 5 of 9 

 

a) Map preferred parking areas for long term daily employee parking 

b) Encourage carpooling 

c) Encourage use of shuttle if available 

d) Encourage use of bikes and scooters for commuting 

 

C. Comprehensive and coordinated wayfinding signage system 

a) Signage must begin on the highway on east and west gateways 

b) Signage should continue at key intersections off the highway 

c) Clearly identify all public parking lots and whether the lot is free or pay 

d) Identify lot by unique name, number or letter 

e) Emphasize “free parking” 

f) Possibly identify time to walk to downtown from each remote lot 

 

D. Shuttle Service 

1. Explore hotel funded shuttle system to promote leaving vehicles at hotels 

2. Explore public funded shuttle system if a dedicated funding source is 

available  

a) Paid on‐street parking could be a funding source 

b) Possible shuttle operators: 

(1) Private sector transportation providers 

(2) City owned and operated 

(3) Explore possibility of an intergovernmental agreement with Jo 

Daviess County to expand current transit contract with Jo 

Daviess County Transit    

c) Operate during times of peak parking space deficiency in downtown 

d) Service to Depot Park lot  

e) Service to hotels 

f) Service to other parking areas through partnerships (schools, Wal‐Mart, 

etc.) 

3. Consider requiring event‐sponsored shuttle service to utilize remote lots 

during large events such as Oktoberfest, Country Fair, and Corkless  
 

E. Valet Parking 

1. Review and modify current parking ordinances to facilitate valet service 

a) Service to be provided, if desired, by individual or groups of businesses 

b) May require use of parking spaces or loading zones for drop off/pick up 

c) Allow use of City lots for valet parking (Depot, Rec Park, old Wastewater 

Plant) 

 

Page 93 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 6 of 9 

 

F. Paid Parking 

1. Continue paid parking in municipal lots: Winery, Commerce Street, City 

Hall 

a) Consider increasing all‐day rate to match privately owned lots  

b) Consider increasing all‐day rate charged by community groups during 

special events from $5 to $10 for consistency throughout town and to 

increase revenue shared with City 

2. Consider paid parking on Main Street, Commerce Street, and connecting 

side streets  

a) Electronic pay kiosk/station on each block 

b) Pay at kiosk or by using mobile phone app (ex. Passport Parking App) 

c) 365 days a year, 10:00 a.m. – 8:00 p.m. (possible hours) 

d) Hourly rates (possibly adjusted seasonally) with potential to park all day 

e) Graduated fines (each successive fine is more costly) to discourage 

violations 

f) Requires seven‐day‐a‐week police enforcement  

(1) Pros 

(a) Discourages merchant/employee parking in premium 

spaces 

(b) Potentially creates revenue stream for other 

services/amenities 

(c) Paid parking is accepted and common in small tourist 

communities 

(i) Wisconsin Dells, Wisconsin 

(ii) Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 

(iii) Breckenridge, Colorado 

(iv) Eureka Springs, Arkansas 

(v) Sedona, Arizona 

(2) Cons 

(a) Less hospitable than free on‐street parking 

(b) Likely to be some confusion/complaints from residents 

and visitors, at least initially  

(c) Requires construction, administration, enforcement, 

and maintenance  

(d) Could deter Galena residents from visiting downtown 

3. Dynamically priced parking  

a) Sensors monitor parking/demand  

b) Pricing automatically adjusts to meet parking space occupancy targets 

c) Relatively new technology that could be a future option 

 

Page 94 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 7 of 9 

 

G. Free Parking 

1. Continue to offer free parking in remote areas, including: 

a) On‐street 3‐hours spaces (if paid parking is not adopted) 

b) Side streets east of Commerce Street 

c) Water Street 

d) Depot Park lot and overflow areas 

e) Other remote lots 
 

H. Explore Opportunities for Expanding Surface Parking 

1. East Side: former site of gas tanks/Davis storage buildings  

a) Will be all city‐owned in January 2020 

b) Approximately 60‐space potential 

c) Free parking during busiest weekends 

d) Parking on grass engineered for vehicles 

e) Access to downtown via Meeker Street or Grant Park pedestrian routes 

f) Add to shuttle route as needed  

2. West Side: Reconstruct municipal lot between Commerce Street and 

Water Street 

a) Incorporate Washington Street into the lot 

b) Improve configuration to add spaces 

c) Consider motorcycle and compact car parking to maximize space use 

d) Consider electric vehicle charging spaces or plan for later installation 

e) Improvements to filter and detain storm water, landscaping 

3. West Side: Old Wastewater Plant 

a) Approximately 25‐space potential 

b) Free parking 

c) Could be opened on busiest weekends 

d) Minimal cost to make operational  

4. West Side: Explore opportunities with Bench Street funeral home, 

Westwick Foundry and Lemfco Foundry to fully utilize existing surface 

parking—potentially through lease arrangements   

a) Westwick owns gravel lot across Claude Street from the foundry. 

Explore possibility of paving, striping and signing for public parking 

b) Explore possibility of marking and signing Lemfco property on Water 

Street side for public parking 

c) Communicate interest in working with these properties/owners for 

long‐term parking system enhancements  

   

Page 95 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 8 of 9 

 

I. Designated Off‐Street Motorcycle Parking  

1. Conveys that motorcyclists are welcome  

2. Encourages most efficient use of parking space 

3. Utilize areas that are too small for vehicle parking (Water Street has areas 

that are underutilized) 

4. Designate spaces in municipal lots seasonally for use by motorcycles  

5. Include motorcycle parking on maps  
 

J. Improve Pedestrian Connectivity  

1. Assess pedestrian routes from parking areas to downtown 

2. Identify improvements needed to existing routes 

3. Identify new routes that could improve use of remote parking 

4. Consider opportunities to improve signage and maps/apps for pedestrian 

wayfinding 

 

K. New Parking Structure(s) 

1. Would have an immediate benefit during peak demand parking times 

2. Limited options for locations to construct 

3. Very expensive to construct ($20,000‐$30,000 per above ground space) 

4. Requires administration/operation and maintenance  

5. Would likely be underutilized most of the time 

6. Parking fees would not likely cover debt service, maintenance and 

administration 

7. Would likely require new funding source such as special property tax 

assessment or special service area tax for downtown businesses 
  

VI. Other Parking and Circulation Improvements 

A. Ride Share and Taxi 

1. Review and modify current ordinances to facilitate ride sharing services 

like Uber and Lyft in addition to traditional taxi services and charter 

services 

a) License operators as permitted by law to enhance public safety 

b) Seek acceptance of Galena by Uber as a service location 

c) Lyft may already be operating in Galena 

 

Page 96 of 106



  September 18, 2019 

Page 9 of 9 

 

B. Alternate Forms of Transportation—Passenger Rail 

1. Continue to lobby for and support the expansion of passenger rail with 

service to Galena 

2. Visitors arriving by rail would not require parking 

3. Depot and Depot parking areas would be used as hub 

C. Alternative Forms of Transportation—Bikes and Electric Bikes 

1. Encourage the use of bikes to travel to the downtown 

2. Provide more places for storing/locking bikes 

3. Designate bike routes and bike storage areas on visitor maps 

4. Spring Street highway project will provide dedicated bike path to the 

west edge of the city 
 

VII. Research and Monitor Technology 

A. Monitor trends in technology that could affect or improve parking system 

1. Autonomous vehicles that self‐park, possibly remotely, and using less 

ground space than driver‐parked vehicles 

2. Automated parking garages that utilize robotic elevators to park more 

vehicles in less space 

3. Utilization of sensors to monitor parking with communication to 

motorists about location of available parking 
 

B. Continue to Monitor Downtown District parking  

1. Attempt to assess impact of vacation rental parking as the industry 

continues to build‐out 

2. Evaluate possibility of vacation rental parking impact fee for properties 

that do not provide off‐street parking 

3. Evaluate reducing hours/days of alternate side parking if demand for 

overnight parking increases 
 

Page 97 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     1
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

A & G ELECTRIC (120743)
31249 1 Invoice TRAFFIC SIGNAL 09/12/2019 340.00 15.41.514.06

Total A & G ELECTRIC (120743): 340.00

AMERICAN LEGAL PUBLISHING (556)
0130311 1 Invoice ONLINE CODE OF ORDIN 09/05/2019 495.00 01.14.549.01

Total AMERICAN LEGAL PUBLISHING (556): 495.00

AMERICAN LEGION POST 193 (118878)
091719 1 Invoice FLAGS 09/17/2019 360.00 01.41.652.00

Total AMERICAN LEGION POST 193 (118878): 360.00

AT & T (LOCAL) (103)
091519 1 Invoice PUBLIC WORKS/PHONE 09/15/2019 52.92 01.41.552.00
091519 2 Invoice FIRE DEPARTMENT/PHO 09/15/2019 49.18 22.22.552.00
091519 3 Invoice POLICE/PHONE 09/15/2019 251.57 01.21.552.00
091519 4 Invoice FLOOD CONTROL/PHON 09/15/2019 48.96 20.25.515.00

Total AT & T (LOCAL) (103): 402.63

AT & T LONG DISTANCE (119065)
091519 1 Invoice PUBLIC WORKS/LONG DI 09/15/2019 .51 01.41.552.00
091519 2 Invoice FIRE DEPARTMENT/LON 09/15/2019 .11 22.22.552.00
091519 3 Invoice POLICE/LONG DISTANCE 09/15/2019 12.91 01.21.552.00
091519 4 Invoice ADMINISTRATION/LONG  09/15/2019 50.92 01.13.552.00

Total AT & T LONG DISTANCE (119065): 64.45

AZAVAR AUDIT (120348)
148300 1 Invoice REV AUDIT FEES 09/18/2019 41.94 01.11.549.00

Total AZAVAR AUDIT (120348): 41.94

B & S TURF TEAM (362)
083019 1 Invoice WEED SPRAY/TRAINING  08/30/2019 135.00 22.22.929.00

Total B & S TURF TEAM (362): 135.00

BARD MATERIALS CENTRAL REGION (119788)
377563 1 Invoice CONCRETE 08/24/2019 276.25 01.41.614.04
377564 1 Invoice CONCRETE 08/24/2019 442.00 01.41.614.04

Total BARD MATERIALS CENTRAL REGION (119788): 718.25

BEN WIENEN EXCAVATING (118887)
2832 1 Invoice GRANT PARK/NORTH EN 09/12/2019 7,000.00 41.61.860.02
2832 2 Invoice GRANT PARK/NORTH EN 09/12/2019 2,790.00 01.41.840.01
2832 3 Invoice GRANT PARK/NORTH EN 09/12/2019 4,720.00 17.52.890.00

Total BEN WIENEN EXCAVATING (118887): 14,510.00

Page 98 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     2
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

BILLER PRESS (274)
BP-7890 1 Invoice PARKING TICKETS 09/11/2019 338.52 01.21.554.00

Total BILLER PRESS (274): 338.52

CARD SERVICE CENTER (119840)
091519 1 Invoice CREATIVE CLOUD 09/15/2019 44.60 01.16.563.00
091519 2 Invoice RENTLY 09/15/2019 60.00 58.54.532.00
091519 3 Invoice BACKUP SERVICES 09/15/2019 279.00 01.13.512.04
091519 4 Invoice KEEPER 09/15/2019 150.00 01.11.549.00
091519 5 Invoice CONFERENCE 09/15/2019 185.00 01.11.552.00
091519 6 Invoice CONTINUING EDUCATIO 09/15/2019 15.00 01.11.563.00
091519 7 Invoice OFFICE SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 35.87 01.13.651.02
091519 8 Invoice ADOBE SOFTWARE 09/15/2019 87.81 01.13.512.04
091519 9 Invoice JANITOR SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 18.42 01.13.654.00
091519 10 Invoice AD 09/15/2019 5.00 01.14.553.00
091519 11 Invoice INSTITUTE & ACADEMY 09/15/2019 450.00 01.14.563.00
091519 12 Invoice HOTEL/TASER INST. REC 09/15/2019 81.00 01.21.562.00
091519 13 Invoice BINDERS/DEER PROGRA 09/15/2019 16.64 01.21.651.00
091519 14 Invoice OFFICE SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 36.84 59.55.651.00
091519 15 Invoice CHEMICALS/TEST KIT 09/15/2019 11.55 59.55.656.00

Total CARD SERVICE CENTER (119840): 1,476.73

CONCERNS OF POLICE SURVIVORS (120748)
090419 1 Invoice CONFERENCE REGISTR 09/04/2019 600.00 01.21.563.00

Total CONCERNS OF POLICE SURVIVORS (120748): 600.00

CORE & MAIN LP (120473)
L147225 1 Invoice METERS 09/06/2019 589.14 51.42.831.00

Total CORE & MAIN LP (120473): 589.14

DEARBORN NATIONAL LIFE INS. CO (119500)
090619 1 Invoice EMPLOYEE LIFE INSURA 09/06/2019 253.04 01.13.452.00

Total DEARBORN NATIONAL LIFE INS. CO (119500): 253.04

DECKER SUPPLY CO., INC. (867)
907150 1 Invoice ST. SIGNS 09/09/2019 539.15 01.41.652.04

Total DECKER SUPPLY CO., INC. (867): 539.15

DUBUQUE FIRE EQUIPMENT, INC. (631)
146322 1 Invoice FIRE EXTINGUISHER CH 08/19/2019 235.34 01.21.549.00
146329 1 Invoice SAFETY 08/19/2019 491.18 01.41.652.05
146337 1 Invoice FIRE EXTINGUISHER CH 08/19/2019 183.00 58.54.532.01
146345 1 Invoice FIRE EXTINGUISHER CH 08/19/2019 58.00 01.13.511.01

Total DUBUQUE FIRE EQUIPMENT, INC. (631): 967.52

DUPACO COMM. CREDIT UNION (120745)
090919 1 Invoice CREDIT BALANCE REFU 09/09/2019 11.33 98.115.0

Page 99 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     3
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

Total DUPACO COMM. CREDIT UNION (120745): 11.33

EUCLID MANAGERS (120626)
091519 1 Invoice EMPLOYEE DENTAL #564 09/15/2019 1,800.30 01.13.451.01

Total EUCLID MANAGERS (120626): 1,800.30

EXACT PEST SOLUTIONS, INC. (120708)
17470 1 Invoice PEST CONTROL 09/09/2019 55.00 01.13.511.01

Total EXACT PEST SOLUTIONS, INC. (120708): 55.00

FLEEGE, ALICIA (120746)
091719 1 Invoice PARK REFUND 09/17/2019 25.00 17.52.929.00

Total FLEEGE, ALICIA (120746): 25.00

FRANK, DAVE (153)
092319 1 Invoice RETIREMENT HEALTH B 09/23/2019 281.60 78.32.464.02

Total FRANK, DAVE (153): 281.60

GALENA ARC (850)
092319 1 Invoice HAHN COUNCIL SALARY  09/23/2019 100.00 01.11.432.00

Total GALENA ARC (850): 100.00

GALENA CHRYSLER (82)
74018 (B) 1 Invoice SQUAD 4 MAINTENANCE 08/15/2019 46.84 01.21.513.06

Total GALENA CHRYSLER (82): 46.84

GALL'S, INC. (712)
013583548 1 Invoice MISC. UNIFORMS 08/29/2019 97.95 01.21.471.15

Total GALL'S, INC. (712): 97.95

GASSER @ GALENA (24)
091519 1 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 77.56 01.13.654.00
091519 2 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 109.20 01.41.514.01
091519 3 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 67.68 01.41.514.06
091519 4 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 35.15 01.41.652.00
091519 5 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 24.36 01.41.653.00
091519 6 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 1.16 17.52.517.02
091519 7 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 47.69 17.52.652.00
091519 8 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 17.99 22.22.611.00
091519 9 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 51.28 22.22.613.00
091519 10 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 74.54 22.22.652.00
091519 11 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 10.75 22.22.840.00
091519 12 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 75.59 58.54.511.00
091519 13 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 39.01 58.54.654.01
091519 14 Invoice MISC. SUPPLIES 09/15/2019 16.15 59.55.511.02

Page 100 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     4
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

Total GASSER @ GALENA (24): 648.11

GLOBAL REACH INTERNET PROD. (119792)
102927 1 Invoice EXCHANGE 09/06/2019 100.00 52.43.532.00
102927 2 Invoice EXCHANGE 09/06/2019 100.00 51.42.532.00

Total GLOBAL REACH INTERNET PROD. (119792): 200.00

GUARDIAN (120502)
091519 1 Invoice VISION INSURANCE 09/15/2019 224.89 01.13.451.01

Total GUARDIAN (120502): 224.89

GUY'S TRUCK & TRACTOR SERVICE (119033)
GWI014269 1 Invoice 2014 1-TON 08/14/2019 130.00 01.41.613.01
GWI014278 1 Invoice ST. SWEEPER 08/15/2019 114.53 01.41.613.11
GWI014300 1 Invoice REPAIR AIR LEAK 113 08/19/2019 328.84 22.22.613.00
GWI014303 1 Invoice 2011 INT. DUMP 08/19/2019 899.46 01.41.613.06

Total GUY'S TRUCK & TRACTOR SERVICE (119033): 1,472.83

HAAS, RAELLE & ANDREW (120749)
091819 1 Invoice DEPOSIT REFUND 09/18/2019 300.00 58.54.929.00

Total HAAS, RAELLE & ANDREW (120749): 300.00

HALSTEAD, DEVIN (120019)
091519 1 Invoice DOG FOOD 09/15/2019 28.99 01.21.814.06

Total HALSTEAD, DEVIN (120019): 28.99

HALSTEAD, MARY L. (119966)
092319 1 Invoice PUBLIC RESTROOMS AT  09/23/2019 270.00 01.13.511.08
092319 2 Invoice CITY HALL JANITOR 09/23/2019 290.00 01.13.511.07
092319 3 Invoice PARKS RESTROOMS 09/23/2019 765.00 17.52.422.00
092319 4 Invoice MARKET HOUSE RESTR 09/23/2019 258.50 01.13.511.09

Total HALSTEAD, MARY L. (119966): 1,583.50

HEALTHCARE SERVICE CORPORATION (118931)
091519 1 Invoice HSA/FAMILY/EMPLOYEE  09/15/2019 7,366.24 01.218.0
091519 2 Invoice PPO/BLUE CROSS BLUE  09/15/2019 132.42 01.218.0
091519 3 Invoice HEALTH INSURANCE 09/15/2019 29,994.63 01.13.451.00
091519 4 Invoice COBRA INSURANCE 09/15/2019 1,504.98 01.13.451.04

Total HEALTHCARE SERVICE CORPORATION (118931): 38,998.27

HYDE, MARY BETH (101)
090419 1 Invoice TRAVEL REIMBURSEME 09/04/2019 131.60 01.14.562.00

Total HYDE, MARY BETH (101): 131.60

Page 101 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     5
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

ILLINOIS STATE POLICE (1152)
083119 1 Invoice BACKGROUND CHECK 08/31/2019 54.00 01.21.549.00

Total ILLINOIS STATE POLICE (1152): 54.00

J & R SUPPLY INCORPORATED (951)
1908660 1 Invoice PARTS 08/13/2019 3,492.00 51.42.831.07
1908954 1 Invoice FLOOD MAINTENANCE 09/17/2019 2,870.00 20.25.515.00
1909420 1 Invoice PARTS 09/03/2019 2,539.60 51.42.831.07
1909519 1 Invoice PARTS 09/05/2019 5,359.00 51.42.831.09
1909537 1 Invoice PARTS 09/05/2019 2,466.00 51.42.831.09
1909554 1 Invoice PARTS 09/06/2019 325.00 51.42.831.09
1909741 1 Invoice STORM SEWER 09/12/2019 714.00 01.41.514.06

Total J & R SUPPLY INCORPORATED (951): 17,765.60

JA-MAR PATTERN, INC. (119620)
17453 1 Invoice CEMETERY FENCE 08/27/2019 3,840.00 17.52.870.05

Total JA-MAR PATTERN, INC. (119620): 3,840.00

JO CARROLL ENERGY, INC. (397)
091519 1 Invoice CITY HALL/ELECTRIC 09/15/2019 156.74 01.13.571.01
091519 2 Invoice PUBLIC WORKS/ELECTRI 09/15/2019 391.29 01.41.571.01
091519 3 Invoice EMS/ELECTRIC 09/15/2019 83.49 12.10.571.01
091519 4 Invoice PARKS/ELECTRIC 09/15/2019 238.51 17.52.571.01
091519 5 Invoice FIRE/ELECTRIC 09/15/2019 77.29 22.22.576.01
091519 6 Invoice POOL/ELECTRIC 09/15/2019 2,895.36 59.55.571.01
091719 1 Invoice STREET LIGHTS 09/17/2019 1,007.15 15.41.572.00

Total JO CARROLL ENERGY, INC. (397): 4,849.83

JODAVIESS CTY CIRCUIT CLERK (119752)
091719 1 Invoice 2019TR1630 09/17/2019 164.00 01.11.912.00
091719 2 Invoice 2019CV30 09/17/2019 164.00 01.11.912.00

Total JODAVIESS CTY CIRCUIT CLERK (119752): 328.00

JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL (119690)
091519 1 Invoice FUEL 09/15/2019 27.75 01.41.655.00

Total JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL (119690): 27.75

KAISER, CHRIS (120744)
090919 1 Invoice CREDIT BALANCE REFU 09/09/2019 47.85 98.115.0

Total KAISER, CHRIS (120744): 47.85

KIMBALL MIDWEST (120747)
7258490 1 Invoice TOOL 07/10/2019 112.49 01.41.653.00

Total KIMBALL MIDWEST (120747): 112.49

Page 102 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     6
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

LEXISNEXIS RISK SOLUTIONS (376)
1343164-201 1 Invoice INVESTIGATION PROGR 08/31/2019 37.25 01.21.652.03

Total LEXISNEXIS RISK SOLUTIONS (376): 37.25

MACKAY METERS, INC. (120302)
1054501 1 Invoice PARKING MACHINE MAIN 08/30/2019 295.00 53.48.651.00

Total MACKAY METERS, INC. (120302): 295.00

MAILFINANCE (119741)
N7899577 1 Invoice POSTAGE METER 09/07/2019 338.85 01.13.579.02

Total MAILFINANCE (119741): 338.85

MCCOY INSURANCE SERVICE (98)
17592 1 Invoice RURAL FIRE INSURANCE 09/04/2019 3,858.00 22.22.591.00

Total MCCOY INSURANCE SERVICE (98): 3,858.00

MIDWEST BUSINESS PRODUCTS (38)
766941 1 Invoice COPIER 08/08/2019 95.11 22.22.929.00

Total MIDWEST BUSINESS PRODUCTS (38): 95.11

MNS CONSTRUCTION, INC. (118877)
14684 1 Invoice CURB/GUTTER 09/05/2019 732.69 01.41.614.04

Total MNS CONSTRUCTION, INC. (118877): 732.69

MONTGOMERY TRUCKING (133)
194376 1 Invoice REFUSE HANDLING CON 09/01/2019 14,524.49 13.44.540.04
194376 2 Invoice RECYCLING CONTRACT 09/01/2019 5,011.93 13.44.540.00
194376 3 Invoice DUMPSTER RENT 09/01/2019 60.00 13.44.544.03
194376 4 Invoice DUMPSTER DISPOSAL F 09/01/2019 193.00 01.41.573.00

Total MONTGOMERY TRUCKING (133): 19,789.42

MORSE ELECTRIC, INC (69)
KR96236 1 Invoice WWTP REPAIRS 08/01/2019 4,124.20 52.43.929.00

Total MORSE ELECTRIC, INC (69): 4,124.20

MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS - STARCOM (119812)
4472573120 1 Invoice MONTHLY RATE FOR STA 09/01/2019 10.00 01.21.549.00

Total MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS - STARCOM (119812): 10.00

NAPA AUTO PARTS (79)
083119 1 Invoice MISC. VEHICLES 08/31/2019 14.99 01.41.613.12
083119 2 Invoice GATOR/FLOWERS 08/31/2019 93.61 17.52.514.00
083119 3 Invoice SUPPLIES 08/31/2019 85.26 17.52.652.00
083119 4 Invoice VEHICLE MAINT. 08/31/2019 128.15 20.25.513.00
309299 1 Invoice OIL & FILTERS FOR TRU 08/29/2019 721.39 22.22.613.00

Page 103 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     7
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

Total NAPA AUTO PARTS (79): 1,043.40

NIU (120617)
TEL005656 1 Invoice INTERNET 08/28/2019 360.00 22.22.652.00

Total NIU (120617): 360.00

PETTY CASH/POLICE DEPT. (163)
091719 1 Invoice POSTAGE 09/17/2019 9.96 01.21.551.00
091719 2 Invoice PRINTING MAP/DEER HU 09/17/2019 17.25 01.21.554.00

Total PETTY CASH/POLICE DEPT. (163): 27.21

SENSUS USA INC. (287)
ZA19013199 1 Invoice SOFTWARE SUPPORT 09/06/2019 1,949.94 51.42.532.00

Total SENSUS USA INC. (287): 1,949.94

SIGNCRAFT SCREENPRINT, INC. (555)
350339 1 Invoice CLEAR STRIPS FOR SQU 09/09/2019 54.13 01.21.513.06

Total SIGNCRAFT SCREENPRINT, INC. (555): 54.13

STEPHENSON SERVICE CO. (119230)
083119 1 Invoice FUEL 08/31/2019 955.39 01.41.655.00

Total STEPHENSON SERVICE CO. (119230): 955.39

T & T ELECTRONICS (120055)
2276 1 Invoice TV RECYCLING 09/03/2019 375.00 13.44.929.00

Total T & T ELECTRONICS (120055): 375.00

TAMMY'S PIGGLY WIGGLY (120385)
791 1 Invoice SYMPATHY FLOWERS 09/01/2019 42.00 01.11.929.01

Total TAMMY'S PIGGLY WIGGLY (120385): 42.00

TECHNOLOGY MANAGEMENT REV FUND (120601)
T20002662 1 Invoice MONTHLY CHARGE FOR  08/26/2019 265.62 01.21.542.00

Total TECHNOLOGY MANAGEMENT REV FUND (120601): 265.62

UNIFORM DEN EAST, INC. (119474)
64495 1 Invoice UNIFORMS/NATHAN 09/12/2019 36.90 01.21.471.15

Total UNIFORM DEN EAST, INC. (119474): 36.90

US WATER (120719)
897198 1 Invoice WATER CONTRACT 09/01/2019 28,956.74 51.42.515.00
897198 2 Invoice SEWER CONTRACT 09/01/2019 28,956.74 52.43.515.01

Page 104 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     8
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

Total US WATER (120719): 57,913.48

VERIZON WIRELESS (316)
091519 1 Invoice PAY & DISPLAY 09/15/2019 75.12 53.48.555.00
091519 2 Invoice VERIZON JET PACK FOR  09/15/2019 38.01 01.21.652.03
091519 3 Invoice FIRE DEPARTMENT/VERI 09/15/2019 76.02 22.22.652.00

Total VERIZON WIRELESS (316): 189.15

VINCENT & SONS, J. P.  (507)
091119 1 Invoice FLAG FOR STATION 09/11/2019 50.00 22.22.929.00

Total VINCENT & SONS, J. P.  (507): 50.00

WAL-MART COMMUNITY (CC) (1258)
091819 1 Invoice OFFICE SUPPLIES 09/18/2019 26.62 01.13.651.02
091819 2 Invoice OFFICE SUPPLIES 09/18/2019 106.79 01.21.651.00
091819 3 Invoice SUPPLIES 09/18/2019 112.59 01.41.652.00
091819 4 Invoice STORAGE TOTES/WINTE 09/18/2019 23.74 59.55.651.00
091819 5 Invoice CONCESSION SUPPLIES 09/18/2019 39.72 59.55.652.05
091819 6 Invoice VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 09/18/2019 19.53 01.41.614.04

Total WAL-MART COMMUNITY (CC) (1258): 328.99

WEBER PAPER COMPANY (40)
011365401 1 Invoice SOAP & TOILET PAPER 09/09/2019 188.70 01.13.654.01
D0077645 1 Invoice CLEANING TOWELS 09/09/2019 64.06 01.13.654.00

D077644 1 Invoice SOAP & TOILET PAPER 09/09/2019 186.55 01.13.654.00
D077646 1 Invoice CLEANING TOWELS 09/09/2019 64.06 01.13.654.01
D077851 1 Invoice SUPPLIES 09/11/2019 213.34 01.21.654.00

Total WEBER PAPER COMPANY (40): 716.71

WHITE CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. (119359)
091519 1 Invoice TURNER HALL JANITORI 09/15/2019 350.00 58.54.536.00
091819 1 Invoice CLEANING SERVICES/TU 09/18/2019 300.00 58.54.537.01

Total WHITE CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. (119359): 650.00

WHITE'S LAWN CARE (119092)
11902 1 Invoice TREE REMOVAL 08/01/2019 12,770.00 01.41.517.02
12028 1 Invoice TREE REMOVAL 09/01/2019 4,800.00 01.41.517.02

Total WHITE'S LAWN CARE (119092): 17,570.00

WIZARD COMPUTERS INC (666)
14122 1 Invoice COMPUTER MAINTENAN 09/06/2019 240.00 01.13.512.04

Total WIZARD COMPUTERS INC (666): 240.00

WORKSHOP, THE (120647)
45902 1 Invoice FIRE/RUG SERVICE 08/30/2019 110.00 22.22.538.01
45902 2 Invoice POLICE/RUG SERVICE 08/30/2019 66.00 01.21.651.00

Page 105 of 106



CITY OF GALENA Invoice Register Page:     9
Input Dates: 9/10/2019 - 9/30/2019 Sep 19, 2019  10:24AM

Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Total Cost PO Number GL Account

45902 3 Invoice TURNER HALL/RUG SER 08/30/2019 29.70 58.54.654.01
45992 1 Invoice SR. VAN TRANSP. 08/31/2019 833.00 01.13.542.00

Total WORKSHOP, THE (120647): 1,038.70

Grand Totals: 207,950.24

Report GL Period Summary

Vendor number hash: 5655571
Vendor number hash - split: 9256875
Total number of invoices: 91
Total number of transactions: 156

Terms Description Invoice Amount Net Invoice Amount

Open Terms 207,950.24 207,950.24

Grand Totals: 207,950.24 207,950.24

Page 106 of 106


	00.00 Agenda 09.23.19
	00.0387 Minutes cc090919
	01.0322 309 Franklin St. Appeal
	092319c
	309 Franklin St. House Pic with Colors
	04.0322 309 Franklin Appeal
	309 Franklin St Appeal Memo 7-28-17
	309 Franklin CA Appeal 7-28-17
	Blue Orchid and Violet Stone
	Thundercloud Grey, Deep Silver, and Sweet Daphne
	309 Franklin St. Agenda 7-6-17
	309 Franklin CA 7-6-17
	House photos with CA colors 7-6-17
	Paint Proposal
	Exhibit #1 Minutes Aug. 18th
	Exhibit #5 Minutes Sept. 1st
	309 Franklin Ball State 1
	309 Franklin Ball State 2



	03.0353 Coatsworth Parking
	082619b
	Coatsworth Parking

	04.0389 NW IL Presentation
	NW IL Presentation
	Galena Honeywell Plant

	05.0390 624 Spring Rezoning
	06.0391 Cal No 19A-04 Adult-Use Cannabis
	07.0393 Employee Insurance
	08.0394 Downtown Parking Report
	Parking memo to coucnil 082819
	2019 Downtown Parking Outline 091719

	09.0395 Warrants 09.23.19



